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In millions, except per share data

Years ended December 31 1997 1996 Percent
Change

Net Sales $5,079.4 $ 4,814.2 6%

Net Income 338.8 317.9 7%

Earnings per Share:

Basic $ 2.56 $ 2.38 8%

Diluted $ 2.54 $ 2.36 8%

At December 31

Total Debt $ 234.3 $ 201.6
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

We are pleased to report that 1997 was your company’s ninth consecutive year of increased sales and earnings, and 
that Avon took concerted actions during the year to ensure continuing growth well into the next millennium.

Sales in 1997 rose to a record $5.08 billion, a gain of 6%. In local currencies, without the effects of foreign 
exchange translation, sales rose at a higher rate of 10%. Surpassing the $5 billion milestone is a noteworthy accomplish-
ment. It took 86 years for Avon to become a $1 billion company. Now we are growing at the rate of nearly $1 billion
every three years.

Earnings per share in 1997 increased 8% on a basic and diluted basis to $2.56 and $2.54, respectively. While 
this may be considered acceptable performance given some of the challenges we faced during the year, it is not the
growth that investors have come to expect of Avon. Nor is it what we expect of ourselves. We fully intend that growth
going forward will accelerate, and I’ll outline our strategies later in this letter.

The benefit of operating a global portfolio of businesses was proven once again in 1997. Currency volatility in 
Asia and short-term issues in certain markets were offset by excellent performance in Latin America and significant profit
gains in Europe.

Reflecting our confidence in Avon’s long-term outlook, the Board of Directors in February 1998 raised the regular 
cash dividend by 8% to $.34 quarterly, or $1.36 on an annual basis, making this the eighth consecutive year of higher
payouts. Since 1990, shareholders have enjoyed a total increase of 172% in the annualized cash dividend rate.

Another important use of our cash has been for share repurchases. In 1997, Avon repurchased 1.9 million shares, or
about 1.4% of outstanding stock, at an average cost of $59 per share. At year-end, we had approximately $390 million
remaining on the $500 million share repurchase program announced in February 1997.

Avon’s financial health continues to be sound. Cash flow from operations in 1997 was $316 million, total debt at year-
end was $234 million, and cash-on-hand was $142 million. 

James E. Preston
Chairman and 
Chief Executive Officer
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A Noteworthy Year. Avon faced more challenges this year than in the recent past. Currency devaluations in Asia, profit
pressures in Japan, and tighter regulatory restrictions in China all had a negative impact on performance as the year
came to a close. In addition, aggressive marketing and sales programs in Brazil did not produce the expected gains, and
the U.S. played catch-up throughout 1997 to recover from a Representative shortfall going into the year.

Despite these issues, your company still grew profitably in 1997. More important, these are short-term issues, and we
expect that in 1998, Avon will return to higher levels of performance.

The year also was noteworthy for Avon’s many accomplishments. The Americas Region continued its impressive
growth, and for the first time delivered higher sales than Avon U.S.  Mexico had another great year and became the first
country outside the U.S. to contribute more than $100 million in pretax income.

The Europe Region showed continued strong improvement, with local currency sales gains in almost every country,
especially in the U.K. The developing markets in Central Europe and Russia once again grew rapidly and generated well
over $100 million in sales for the year. Avon also entered Croatia, Ukraine and Romania, and expanded further across
Russia. Pretax profits for Europe were up more than 30% versus 1996, even excluding the benefit of a $26.5 million VAT
settlement in the U.K. in the fourth quarter of 1997.

In Asia, our markets delivered strong results in local currencies, despite severe currency devaluations. The impact of
currency on pretax profits was about $7 million in 1997. We are not expecting any dollar-denominated profit increases
from Southeast Asia in 1998 due to ongoing economic volatility.

We do, however, expect to emerge from the current Asian turmoil with greater market shares than before. Our local
managers are experienced in managing through periods of economic upheaval. As Mexico did following the1994 peso
devaluation, our Asian markets are leveraging their localized supply chains and implementing recruiting, promotions and
other strategies for boosting market penetration and share. Our solid local currency results in 1997, achieved in spite of
the economic issues, support our confidence in the long-term outlook for the region.

A more detailed discussion of 1997 operating performance by geographic region is found later in this report.

Successful Track Record
Avon’s total return to shareholders has consistently
exceeded the overall stock market since 1988.
Avon shareholders have enjoyed a 27% compound
annual return, versus 18% for the S&P 500.
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Management For Tomorrow.  In December 1997, Avon announced a senior management succession plan that I believe
gives us an outstanding team of executives to lead the company to new levels of achievement.

Charles R. Perrin, who successfully led Duracell International as chairman and CEO prior to its acquisition by Gillette
in 1996, was appointed vice chairman and chief operating officer of Avon. He will assume the role of chief executive offi-
cer when I step down in that capacity in mid-1998.

Charlie meets every criterion established by the Board for the selection of my successor. A proven leader, he helped
Duracell expand into more than 100 global markets and made “Duracell” a household name with consumers the world
over. As important, Charlie’s integrity and respect for people fit well with Avon’s values and principles, which are inextri-
cably woven into the fabric of our direct selling culture.

Concurrent with Charlie’s appointment, Andrea Jung, who has led the successful renovation of Avon’s product lines
and beauty image since joining the company in1994, was elected the first woman president in Avon’s history. She now
directs all of the company’s international operations, which comprise two-thirds of total sales. She will assume the title 
of chief operating officer from Charlie later in 1998.

In addition, Susan J. Kropf, a 27-year Avon veteran, was named president, Avon North America. She now directs
Avon’s operations in the U.S., Canada and Puerto Rico, a $1.9 billion business unit.

Both Andrea and Susan were elected to the Board of Directors. Avon’s Board now has six women directors, more than
any other major U.S. company.

I am delighted that Charlie, Andrea and Susan will lead Avon in the very exciting era that lies ahead. I am confident
that under their leadership, Avon will prosper as never before.

Strong Leadership
Avon’s Board of Directors elected a highly qualified
management succession team to lead the company
into the next millennium. Pictured (standing) are 
Charles R. Perrin, Vice Chairman and COO; and
Andrea Jung, President of Avon. Seated is Susan Kropf,
President, Avon North America.

LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS



Previous Long-Term Actual Results New Long-Term 
Targets 1989 – 1997 Targets

Sales 6 – 8% 7% 8 – 10%

EPS 13 – 15% 15% 16 – 18%
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Building For The Future. Your company’s financial success during the past nine years has created a foundation of strength
for Avon to build on as we enter the next phase of our evolution as a global marketer.

The early 1990s were characterized by a singular focus on maximizing cash flow, reducing debt, and restoring the
company’s financial health after the difficulties of the 1980s.

Beginning in 1993, our priorities shifted to strategies for building the business around the world. These strategies
included accelerated expansion into new markets, the renovation of our product lines and beauty image, and the intro-
duction of new product categories to leverage our unique direct selling distribution channel.

These strategies have worked well. Since 1989, sales have risen 7% (15% in local currency) compounded annually.
EPS has grown 15% on a compound annual basis. This growth compares favorably with Avon’s previous long-term
growth objectives of 6 – 8% for sales and 13 –15% for EPS.

With a strong foundation now firmly in place, Avon today is entering a new evolutionary phase that will accelerate
top- and bottom-line growth. We have set targets to increase sales by 8 –10%, compounded annually, and we have 
targeted long-term EPS growth of 16–18%. Importantly, increases in operating margins will drive the higher earnings
growth, reflecting a strong emphasis on quality of earnings.

We will meet these ambitious goals by leveraging our strengths in direct selling and further capitalizing on our newly
renovated product line. For example, our flagship global brands – which now account for 39% of the company’s total CFT
sales – will increase to 70% of CFT sales by the year 2000.

But to accelerate growth, we need to dramatically increase investments in advertising, promotion and access strate-
gies to bring Avon to more women around the world. We know we have the products women want. Our challenge is to
get those products into the hands of new customers.

That’s why the company is implementing a business process redesign (BPR) program that will enable Avon to free up
funds for reinvestment in long-term customer growth.

By the end of the year 2000, we expect to realize annual savings of $400 million through a combination of improved
gross margins and lower expenses. We intend to invest half of those savings – an incremental $200 million a year – in
customer growth programs. We expect that the balance of the savings will flow to the bottom line and help boost operat-
ing margins to 15% from today’s 11% level.

This company-wide effort is well under way. We anticipate incurring one-time costs to facilitate implementation total-
ing $150 –200 million pretax, mostly in non-cash charges. About half of the charges will be recorded in the first quarter
of 1998, with the balance in 1999. More information about Avon’s BPR program is found elsewhere in this report.

To further enhance Avon’s financial returns, we have introduced Avon Value Added (AVA), a performance measure that
will help operating managers generate profit growth that exceeds Avon’s cost of capital. AVA will help the company use its
assets more efficiently, generate higher operating margins and increase value for shareholders on a long-term basis.

Accelerated Growth Targets
Since 1989, Avon has met its long-term targets for sales
and earnings growth on a compound annual basis. Starting
in 1998, Avon is targeting higher long-term goals.



Corporate Responsibility. As a company committed to serving women, Avon is proud of its many programs that enhance
women’s lives. For example, the Avon Worldwide Fund For Women’s Health has raised over $50 million since 1992 
to support women’s health initiatives around the world. The Fund includes Avon’s Breast Cancer Awareness Crusade in the
U.S., which has provided more than $25 million to grassroots early detection and education programs in 48 states and
Puerto Rico.

In addition, the Avon Foundation expanded its support beyond the U.S. to underwrite women’s health programs 
in Russia on behalf of Magee Womancare International. Also, the Foundation, in conjunction with Reach and Teach USA,
established the Avon Entrepreneurial Centre for Women in South Africa to bring literacy and business skills to women 
students. In the U.S., the Foundation provided over 400 scholarships for women students.

Avon is fortunate to have an outstanding and committed Board of Directors. We welcome to the Board Paula Stern,
Ph.D., president of the Stern Group, an international economic and trade advisory firm based in Washington, D.C., who
was elected in May. Dr. Stern’s extensive background in international business and economics will be very valuable to
Avon as we continue to expand globally.

We also wish to acknowledge two Board members who retired in 1997: Cecily C. Selby, Ph.D., and Joseph A. Rice.
Both served Avon with distinction for many years, and we thank them for their contributions.

Also retiring from Avon’s Board in 1997 was Edward J. Robinson, formerly president and chief operating officer. 
Ed made significant contributions to the company’s success since joining as chief financial officer in 1989. We wish him
well in his future undertakings.

Lastly, we thank our 35,000 associates and 2.6 million Representatives worldwide. Your commitment and integrity
have built an enviable reputation for Avon, and your hard work has prepared the company to meet the challenges ahead.

6 AV O N Products, Inc.

James E. Preston

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

February 27, 1998
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BUI LD ING THE FUTURE

In 1886, Avon Founder David H. McConnell started a business that brought a world of

beauty directly to women, in a way that best met their needs for timely, convenient, and

personal shopping. He also created opportunities for women to build their own businesses.

Today, Mr. McConnell’s direct selling system is one of the world’s most powerful 

distribution channels. Some 2.6 million independent Representatives sell Avon in 135

countries. Every year, Avon Representatives fulfill over 650 million customer orders, gen-

erating more than $2 billion in commissions for themselves and their families.

In developing markets, Avon and direct selling are growing dramatically, driven by

strong demand for quality beauty products and the company’s innovative ways of bringing

the Avon store to women. In established markets, Avon is strengthening its core direct 

selling channel, and exploring complementary ways of reaching and serving new genera-

tions of customers.

Looking ahead, Avon is building on nine consecutive years of increased sales and profits

with a strategic program for freeing resources to accelerate long-term growth. By investing

today, Avon tomorrow will have more customers, more sales, more profits – and a direct

selling channel that is more powerful than ever.

GROWING IN DEVELOPING MARKETS

CONTEMPORIZ ING ESTABL ISHED MARKETS

FUEL ING FUTURE GROWTH



GROWING IN DEVELOPING MARKETS

The world’s developing markets have been driving Avon’s financial performance.

The company has entered 18 new markets since 1990. And for the past five 

years, sales and pretax profits from operations in developing markets have grown

at compound annual rates of 16% and 14%, respectively.

Avon’s operations in the developing markets of Latin America, Asia, Central and

Eastern Europe and Russia are among the company’s most entrepreneurial. Not only

do they adapt the direct selling channel to local conditions; they also create inno-

vative approaches for serving Representatives and reaching new customers.

2 AV O N Products, Inc.

The Scent of Success
The global fragrance 
Millennia, supported by ad-
vertising and promotions, help-
ed attract new customers to
Avon in several Latin American
markets.
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A World of Color
The global brand Avon Color
is helping to drive Avon’s
beauty growth throughout
Latin America.

Latin American Dominance. Since entering Venezuela in 1954, Avon has grown dramatically in
the markets of Latin America. Sales for the region now total $1.8 billion and have increased 
at a compound annual rate of 11% since 1990. And in 1997, Latin America for the first time sur-
passed the sales of the U.S. and became the company’s largest operating business unit.

Avon also has achieved dominant market shares across the region. Company research shows
that Avon has over 32% of the Latin American color cosmetics market, approximately 31% of the
region’s fragrance market, and 25% in skin care.

Avon’s success in Latin America derives in part from its unrivaled market penetration. In
Argentina, for example, aggressive field recruiting and retention programs have increased the number of active Represen-
tatives to 155,000, or one Representative for every 84 women in the country. These Representatives are also highly pro-
ductive. From 1992 through 1997, the number of orders climbed 54% to 2.7 million, and the number of customers rose
almost 70% to 73 million. Such productivity has helped Avon Argentina to generate sales gains of 19%, compounded
annually, since 1990, despite difficult economic conditions. 

Similarly, Avon is the dominant direct seller in Mexico, with more than 250,000 active Representatives. The company
recruited aggressively during the economic crisis in 1995 to offer women an earnings opportunity and to position Avon
for fast recovery once the turmoil abated. To improve image and consumer awareness, Avon Mexico also has invested in
increased advertising.

These and other tactics have helped Avon Mexico emerge stronger than ever. Sales in 1997 rose 27% (32% in local
currency) to over $375 million. Avon Mexico today has an estimated 28% of the country’s CFT marketplace, with global
brands such as Anew and Avon Color winning new customers for Avon.

In Chile, Avon has increased its market share by almost five percentage points since 1994. Global brands such as
Rare Gold, Millennia and Anew, supported by image advertising and promotions, are driving growth. Avon Chile also
has doubled its market penetration to 4.2 Representatives per 1,000 people, despite challenging economic and competi-
tive circumstances. Since 1990, sales in Chile have grown at a compound annual rate of 24%.

Fernando Lezama
Executive Vice President 
and President, Latin America

Avon's 
Market Shares –
Latin America
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Asian Innovation.  Avon’s developing markets in Asia represent the same potential for long-term
growth that Latin America offered 40 years ago. The Philippines, Taiwan, Malaysia, China,
Indonesia, Thailand and India together have grown at a compound annual rate of  21% since
1990. Today, these markets account for 54% of Avon’s sales in Asia.

Even with 1997’s currency devaluations, many of the company’s Asian markets still delivered
sizable increases in sales (local currency), orders, active Representatives and other business indi-
cators. Moreover, global brands grew more than 16% across the region and positioned Avon as
a beauty leader.

Strategies to increase the number of “fixed locations” that sell Avon products also help reach new customers in Asia.
With rapid urbanization, vast geographic distances, and consumer demand for speedy service, Avon must be highly
innovative to penetrate these markets.

For example, the Philippines, China, India and Indonesia use decentralized branches and satellite stores to serve 
Representatives and customers. Representatives come to a branch near their homes to place and pick up product orders
for their customers. Sales managers use the branches for recruiting and training. The branches also create visibility for
Avon with consumers and help build the company’s beauty image. The Philippines, which developed the branch concept
20 years ago, now has 78 branches dotting its islands.

In Malaysia, Avon has 145 franchised beauty boutiques, which are staffed by franchisee Representatives and located
in areas with high concentrations of Representatives. The boutiques provide more direct and personal service to Repre-
sentatives and their customers. They also help reconnect Avon to former Representatives and customers who have been
“stranded.” Over 50% of Avon Malaysia’s sales now come through these outlets.

In Taiwan, Avon is augmenting its core direct selling channel by selling products within a well-known retail drugstore
chain. After the first three months, Avon was the top-selling cosmetics brand sold in those stores.

Color My World Advertising, consumer 
sampling and promotions supporting Avon Color
helped Avon Philippines increase its market share in
lipstick to 62%. Teen usage of the brand also rose
by 18%. Lea Solanga, the young Filipina star of
“Miss Saigon,” appeared in Avon Color advertising
in the Philippines.

A World of Service In Malaysia, franchisee 
Representatives operate beauty boutiques that provide
faster and more personal service to Representatives 
and customers. Beauty boutiques generated over 50%
of Avon Malaysia’s sales in 1997.

GROWING IN DEVELOPING MARKETS

Jose Ferreira, Jr.
Executive Vice President
and President, Asia Pacific
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Central Europe Explosion. The markets of Central Europe demonstrate how quickly beauty and direct selling can gene-
rate rapid sales growth.

Since 1993, the markets in the Czech Republic, Hungary, Poland and Slovakia have increased sales at a compound
annual rate of 50%. Avon today is the leading direct seller of beauty in Hungary, and ranks among the top four brands in
both the Czech Republic and Slovakia. In the larger market of Poland, Avon has almost doubled market penetration since
entering the country in 1993.

These newly market-oriented economies are characterized by powerful pent-up demand for western-quality consumer
products, especially because women in Central Europe live near the sophisticated countries of Western Europe. Avon’s
global brands, particularly Avon Color and Avon Skin Care, meet this demand and have helped build brand equity for
Avon in a short time. Global brands in Central Europe grew 50% in 1997 and now account for 55% of Avon’s CFT sales
in the region.

Avon countries in Central Europe support global brands with advertising, promotions and events that build awareness
and help recruit new Representatives and customers. Avon Poland, for example, invests over 3% of net sales on advertis-
ing to create brand awareness in an intensely competitive marketplace.

All four countries have staged consumer events in major cities to launch products and generate grassroots visibility 
for Avon. Advertising promotes the events and invites women to come to preview products, receive trial samples, and
learn about beauty, skin care, and other related subjects. They also meet Representatives and sales managers to learn
about Avon and about becoming a Representative.

Avon Slovakia, for example, hosted events last spring in 20 cities and reached over 25,000 women with the Avon
beauty message. Customer transactions rose 56% as a result. In Kosice in Eastern Slovakia, a program of seminars for
skin care professionals and events for consumers resulted in thousands of visitors and 120 new Representative appoint-
ments in just two days.

The combination of beauty and direct selling has made Russia Avon’s fastest-growing market entry ever. Sales in 
Russia soared to over $50 million last year, and the number of active Representatives has climbed to nearly 44,000 since
Avon began direct selling in Moscow as a test in 1995. From there, the company has expanded eastward across 
European Russia to major cities like St. Petersburg, Perm and Nizhnynovgorod.

The Power of Beauty
The launch of Avon Skin Care
helped Avon’s global brands
grow 50% in Central Europe
in 1997.
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The Power of Direct Selling 
Avon Representatives offer their customers in Central 
Europe the same friendly, personal and convenient service
that is Avon’s hallmark around the world.
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In established markets like the U.S. and Continental Europe, direct selling is a potent

competitive advantage because it offers women convenient and personal service that

cannot be found in department stores or other retail outlets. Avon is strengthening

direct selling in these markets by leveraging the power of its direct-to-the-customer

channel in innovative new ways.

Growth starts with Avon’s renovated lines of cosmetics, fragrance and toiletries,

especially global brands. In the U.S., sales of global brands in 1997 grew 13%. 

In Continental Europe, they grew 17% and now account for 38% of CFT revenues.

CONTEMPORIZ ING ESTABL ISHED MARKETS

A Fragrant Portfolio
Josie and Starring are among
Avon’s exciting lineup of
global fragrances.
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With beauty as the foundation, Avon in established markets is pursuing more customers by making direct selling more
attractive for Representatives; making it easier for women to buy Avon products; and marketing a more vibrant beauty
image through increased promotional spending.

Supporting Representatives. Helping new Representatives enjoy a successful start is an important avenue for 
accelerating growth. Avon U.S. in 1997 launched a pilot program in four sales divisions that gave new Representatives
expanded contact and training with their district sales managers, extra support through a toll-free “hotline,”and easier
placing of customer orders via touch-tone telephone. The Representatives also were given larger quantities of a smaller
sales brochure focusing on higher-margin color cosmetics, fragrance and skin care products.

Results demonstrate that new Representatives in the test found their initial experience in selling Avon to be easy 
and profitable. The average number of customers served by a Representative during a typical three-campaign test period
climbed over 25%, and retention of new Representatives improved. The test is being continued in 1998 in several 
sales divisions.

Women become Avon Representatives for many reasons: to earn income, to pursue business and personal goals, and
to enjoy friendships with colleagues and customers. Some Representatives aspire to expand their association with Avon
into entrepreneurial careers. In 1998, Avon is introducing programs to inspire Representatives to pursue their goals and to
show them how to build their businesses.

For example, at Avon’s annual sales conference in the U.S. last summer – where district sales managers previewed the
fourth quarter product line – some 800 Representatives for the first time came for their own product preview and to
explore strategies for increasing sales during the Christmas selling season.

Established Appeal
Global fragrances like 
Far Away and Rare Gold
continue to attract new 
customers in established 
markets with their appealing
scents and sophisticated
beauty imagery.

Global Imagery 
Avon is strengthening its global
beauty image by advertising
more consistently. The company
plans to increase advertising
investments to about 3% of net
sales over the next few years.



FIRST TIME EVER!
Avon Representative

National Convention
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CONTEMPORIZ ING ESTABL ISHED MARKETS

Building on this concept, Avon U.S. will host the first National Representative Convention in Orlando in August 1998.
More than 5,000 career-minded Representatives will enjoy opportunities for networking, training in selling and product
knowledge, business and financial management, and other topics relevant to entrepreneurial women.

The company will also test training programs in several locations for helping Representatives build their businesses by
combining product sales and new Representative recruiting.

New Access For New Customers.  Avon’s research shows that while most Avon customers prefer to be served directly by 
a Representative, others want to access Avon in different ways, based on their preferences and lifestyles. Still other
women, who regard Avon favorably but are not yet customers, want a choice of purchase options. That’s why Avon is 
calling on new customers with innovative access avenues that work side-by-side with the core direct selling channel.

In the U. K. – where Avon has the highest market penetration of any direct seller, with seven Representatives 
serving every 1,000 women – the company is prospecting for new customers and reconnecting to stranded ones who are
no longer served by an Avon Representative.

Through its “Consumer Safety Net” program, Avon U.K. uses national advertising to inform women that they can
access Avon via telephone, reply-paid coupon or the Internet. Consumers can choose to be served by a Representative or
buy products directly from the company. They also can become Representatives themselves. Current Representatives par-
ticipate by agreeing to serve customer leads generated by the program.

Results-to-date show that Consumer Safety Net is putting Avon in touch with women who normally are not served by 
the traditional direct selling channel. Moreover, the new customers are purchasing more than three times as much as 
traditional customers.

Avon is also reaching new customers through its Internet site on the World Wide Web (www.avon.com) and the Avon
Beauty & Fashion By Mail direct mail catalogue in the U.S. Research shows that these initiatives are reaching incremental
new customers who are spending more on beauty.

Direct Selling Energy
Avon is providing more training
and resources to help Represent-
atives build their businesses and
achieve personal goals.

Career Representatives
Representative Michelle Uhrick of
the U.S. is building her Avon busi-
ness by successfully selling Avon
beauty brands and by recruiting
and training new Representatives.
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In Spring 1997, Avon launched its renovated web site and became the first major beauty company to enable con-
sumer-purchase online. Some one million consumers visited avon.com last year to buy products and learn about beauty
and fitness. They also could link to information about Avon and its programs, including becoming an Avon Representa-
tive, through the home page or via the America Online Marketplace. Computer World Magazine last year named
avon.com as the best online shopping site.

Sales from Avon Beauty & Fashion By Mail, the company’s U.S.-based direct mail catalogue, also show continuing
potential for attracting new customers to Avon. First launched in 1995, the catalogue last year generated an average
order almost double that of the core business. The test will expand significantly during 1998 to determine the long-term
potential of direct mail in the U.S.

Fixed Access. Borrowing a page from the developing markets, Avon’s established markets are exploring their own fixed
access strategies to generate customer growth.

In Japan, Avon now has 5,000 “store dealers,”who are specially appointed Representatives who sell to their customers
in local stores. Sales from these dealerships grew 26% in 1997 and introduced more than 80,000 new customers to
Avon. Store dealerships are serving a segment of the population that prefers in-store shopping, and they help participat-
ing Representatives to augment their income.

Avon Japan also has opened a Beauty Center in Tokyo to generate greater consumer awareness of Avon, showcase
the company’s products, and serve as a contact and service site for Representatives and sales managers.

Avon U.S. is experimenting with fixed locations, too. In Tampa and San Francisco, for example, Avon Express 
Centers up to now have served Representatives with faster fulfillment of their customers’ orders. In 1998, Avon U.S. will
open several new Express Centers and test the option of direct consumer purchase. The Express Centers also will provide 
Representatives with training and support, as well as with leads on new customers who visit the Centers.

Accessible Avon
Tests of direct mail and Inter-
net shopping are helping
Avon reach new customers.

Free Gift

Shop Online
with secure transaction

with purchase

Tips & Ideas

All About Avon

Avon Running Global Women’s Circuit- click here! 

http://www.avon.com • America Online (keyword: Avon)

V I S I T  A V O N  O N L I N E

Anew World 
The reformulated Anew line
relaunched in 1997 as
Avon’s breakthrough tech-
nology, anti-aging skin care
offering. Sales of Anew
worldwide exceeded 
$190 million in 1997.
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CONTEMPORIZ ING ESTABL ISHED MARKETS

Similarly, Avon U.S. will test the viability of mall carts in shopping malls in select locations around the country. 
These product carts will display an upscale beauty image, showcase the company’s beauty brands, and encourage 
customer trial.

The Face Of Beauty Around The World. As global competition intensifies, a quality beauty image is a critical tool for 
building brand awareness and attracting new generations of women to Avon.

In 1997, the Dare to change your mind about Avon advertising campaign encouraged women to take another look at
Avon. The campaign, which followed the successful 1996 Just Another Avon Lady advertising, increased the volume of
calls to 1-800-FOR-AVON, the company’s toll-free consumer service line. It also helped improve consumer awareness of
the Avon beauty brand in every quarter of 1997.

Importantly, Avon is advertising more globally than ever before, as Dare to change your mind about Avon appeared
in several countries outside the U.S.  Avon markets around the world are adopting the consistent and upscale imagery
now available through the company’s global database of product and model photography. Looking forward, Avon plans
to increase investments in global advertising to about 3% of net sales by the year 2000.

Avon also plans to launch a series of exciting image-building programs. In Spring 1998, the company will launch
Athena: Common Sense, Uncommon Style, a magazine for women that will be sold mainly through Avon Representatives.
Avon’s goal with Athena is to strengthen the company’s beauty image and enhance its role as a beauty authority, as well
as to attract new customers.

In Fall 1998, the company will open a global image center in the heart of the world’s beauty and fashion capital –
New York City. The center will showcase global brands, provide health and fitness information, offer spa services, and
position Avon as the preeminent global company committed to serving women.

Grassroots Appeal
The magazine Athena and
Avon Running, both launching
in 1998, will help position
Avon as a woman’s company
and attract new customers.

New Dimensions in Beauty
In Fall 1998, Avon will open a high-profile image center at
the crossroads of Fifth Avenue and 57th Street in New York
City. The center will showcase Avon’s global brands and
offer beauty, salon, spa and other services to women.

R U N N I N G
GLOBAL WOMEN'S CIRCUIT
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In Spring 1998, Avon returns to the world of women’s running and fitness with Avon Running – Global Women’s 
Circuit. Unprecedented in the world of sports, Avon Running provides access to women of all ages to pursue elite racing,
moderate running, or simple fitness in one unified international circuit. The program will include 10K races, 5K fitness
walks, and pre-race health and fitness clinics in 11 U.S. cities and 15 international markets.

The winner of each national championship earns a trip to the Avon Running – Global Women’s Championship, the
richest 10K road race in women’s running with a total prize purse of $50,000. The race will be held in Spring 1999.

Avon Representatives, products and advertising will be integrated into the global program to generate grassroots
awareness of Avon as a company committed to women’s needs and aspirations. Through Avon’s association with local
running clubs, the program also will help fund grassroots women’s running and fitness programs. 

Reaching new customers in established markets is critical for Avon’s long-term expansion. These and other exciting 
initiatives for contemporizing direct selling will strengthen Avon’s competitiveness and help deliver accelerated sales and
profit growth in the new millennium.

A Colorful Trend
Avon’s Color Trend will
launch in 1998 as a value-
priced complement to Avon
Color targeted for a younger
customer. Color Trend will
unify many local and
regional color brands under
one image-enhancing
global brand umbrella.

The Avon Express
Express Centers like this one in Tampa, Florida will help
generate local visibility for Avon and enhance Representative
recruiting and customer growth.
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FUEL ING FUTURE GROWTH

Through a strategic reengineering program, Avon is redesigning its global operations 

to ensure long-term competitiveness and achieve higher sales and profit targets.

This redesign will streamline Avon’s business procedures and unify operations in 

a more coordinated, efficient and customer-focused process. Importantly, it is

intended to free up $400 million in annual savings by the year 2000. Half of this – 

an incremental $200 million a year – will be reinvested to fuel customer growth 

initiatives such as increased advertising and promotion, as well as new access op-

tions for consumers. 

A Basic Approach
Avon Basics, the company’s
third global skin care line, is
launching in 1998 as a line
of vitamin-enriched skin care
products for all skin types.

claimYOURbeauty.
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The leading priorities of the company’s business process redesign (BPR) program are in the 
following areas:

• Global marketing, which is coordinating all CFT product development on a global basis, and 
taking the lead in directing expanded access, advertising, image-building, and other customer
growth strategies;

• Supply chain, which leverages opportunities for global sourcing, accelerated cycle times, more
accurate sales forecasting, and improved product availability;

• Order management, which streamlines how Avon delivers product orders to Representatives,
including the order entry process, more efficient inventory management, and shipping logistics; and

• Support functions, which improve the processes that support core business activities. Components include more automa-
tion of transaction processing functions, upgrading management information systems, and reorganizing staff and admin-
istrative functions to cut costs and operate more efficiently.

Successful Beginnings. Some reengineering initiatives are well under way and are starting to deliver on their promise.
Consider global marketing, where global brands have been driving stronger sales and improving margins. By shifting its
beauty portfolio to fewer but more profitable global brands, Avon has decreased the size of the active CFT line by 
15% since 1994. Additional reductions of 30% are expected by the year 2000. These reductions make possible a more
streamlined product development process with lower costs for sourcing, manufacturing and distribution throughout 
the global supply chain. Global brands also will allow Avon to improve margins while still pricing its core beauty line 10-
to-15% below those of leading mass competitors. 

Another promising BPR initiative is AvonOpinion.com, an Internet research technology that aligns supply chain strat-
egy with more accurate forecasting of consumer demand. In Fall 1997, some 7,000 Representatives in the U.S. went
online to give feedback on upcoming products and pricing, mainly in the gift and decorative categories. Their responses
greatly improved product availability in the fourth quarter by better aligning supply and demand in advance of the heavi-
est selling season of the year. Nearly 300 products are now being tested on AvonOpinion.com to help ensure 100% 

first-time order fulfillment rates.
These and other efficiencies will accelerate as Avon extends business process redesign

across the global enterprise. Importantly, experienced line executives with both direct selling and
reengineering expertise are implementing Avon’s redesign initiatives. Each priority has a senior
executive sponsor and a team charged with directing and coordinating implementation.

By reengineering and investing in customer growth initiatives today, Avon will ensure contin-
uing market leadership in the years to come.

Avon Calling
Avon’s new telephone call center in Springdale,
Ohio began operations in Fall 1997. The state-of-
the-art facility uses advanced technology to help
Representatives place and track orders 24 hours a
day, 7 days a week.

Edwina D. Woodbury
Executive Vice President,
Business Process Redesign
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BUI LD ING A GLOBAL BRAND

Avon continues to expand globally as it brings the highest quality beauty products 

to consumers all over the world. Avon has entered 18 new direct investment markets

since 1990, including Croatia, Romania and Ukraine in 1997. The power of the 

company’s direct selling channel and the Representative earnings opportunity will

continue to fuel growth globally.

Consumers now have access to Avon products in 45 direct investment markets and

through distributorships, specially appointed Representatives and licensees in 90

other countries, including a significant presence in Egypt, Greece and Saudi Arabia.

1997 Results by Geographic Region
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AMERICAS 

E S TA B L I S H E D M A R K E T S

Canada
D E V E L O P I N G M A R K E T S

Argentina
Bolivia
Brazil
Chile
Dominican Republic
Ecuador
El Salvador
Guatemala
Honduras
Mexico
Nicaragua
Panama
Peru
Puerto Rico
Venezuela

U.S.

E S TA B L I S H E D M A R K E T S

United States

PACIF IC  
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Australia
Japan
New Zealand
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China
India
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South Africa

MARKETS  UNDER 
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Sales in the Americas Region in 1997 grew 9% to $1.8 billion as
the region for the first time became Avon’s largest operating busi-
ness unit. Excluding the impact of foreign currencies, sales rose
14% as Mexico, Argentina, Chile and Venezuela each delivered
double-digit sales gains and solid growth in pretax income.

Avon Mexico had another outstanding year, with sales rising
27% (32% in local currency) to $378 million, on top of the 22%
sales gain in 1996. Global brands like Anew and Avon Color,
supported by aggressive product sampling, brand advertising,
field recruiting and incentive programs, helped increase both
the number of orders and the size of the average order. Also,
units were up 11%, and the number of active Representatives
climbed 10%.

Pretax income in Mexico increased 36% in 1997 to over
$100 million, making Avon Mexico the first international com-
pany to surpass that level in the corporation’s history. The strong
pretax profit performance reflects the sales gains as well as a
favorable operating expense ratio. Avon Mexico also invested
in upgrading computer programs and equipment to improve
shipping and distribution services to Representatives. 

In Argentina, sales rose 10% despite the impact of high
unemployment on consumer spending. The second half of the
year was especially strong as a “New Customer Crusade” pro-
gram helped boost customer transactions by 24% in the fourth
quarter and 23% for the full year. Both units sold and the num-
ber of active Representatives rose for the full year despite heavy
competition, especially from new market entries.

Global brands such as Avon Color, Anew and Far Away
contributed to the sales growth in Argentina. For example, the
Spring 1997 launch of Millennia resulted in sales of 2.3 units
per Representative during the introductory campaign and was
the second best fragrance launch in Avon Argentina’s history.
The customer base grew by 35% during the same campaign.

Avon Chile achieved a 20% sales gain in 1997 along with
double-digit gains in all business indicators. A focus on global
beauty brands like Millennia, plus aggressive marketing and
sales, further increased Avon Chile’s market penetration and
customer growth. Profits were up significantly in Chile versus the
prior year. Avon Venezuela rebounded strongly over 1996
results with sales climbing 21%. Excluding exchange, sales rose
45%, driven by a higher average order size. The markets of
Central America and the Dominican Republic also delivered
sales increases, generated by increases in units sold and growth
in the number of active Representatives.

In Brazil, sales declined in the single digits due to competitive
and economic pressures, including reduced consumer spending.
Moreover, aggressive marketing programs in the high-volume
fourth quarter did not deliver the expected sales gains. Pretax
income fell significantly in 1997 due to the sales decline and a
narrowing of gross margin as consumers shifted to lower-priced
products. Also, margin was negatively impacted during the 
year by approximately $15 million for actions taken to reduce
inventory levels.

Avon Brazil responded by substantially increasing consumer
sampling programs, especially in support of higher-margin
global brands. The company also accelerated recruiting, reten-
tion and training programs to stabilize the Representative base
in a volatile economic environment. One program, for example,
generated 141,000 new Representative appointments in the
fourth quarter, or an average of 68 new appointments per sales
zone. Avon Brazil has improved its inventory position consider-
ably and is working to reduce manufacturing and materials
costs, with improved performance expected in1998.

AMERICAS REGION

REV IEW OF OPERAT IONS

1997 In millions % Change from 1996

Net Sales $1,753 +9%

Pretax Income $ 311 +6%

Moments (Brazil)



Nineteen ninety-seven was a challenging year for Avon U.S.,
with sales up 4% and pretax profits down 3%. Excluding 
Discovery Toys, a direct seller of educational products for chil-
dren which Avon acquired in January 1997, sales rose 1% 
and pretax income declined 2%.

Avon U.S., excluding Discovery Toys, started the year with
decreases in the number of active Representatives and units due
to a change in late 1996 in the discount policy on demonstra-
tion products for low-producing Representatives. As a result, the
number of active Representatives fell 3% and units dropped 2%
in the first quarter of 1997.

Although recovery took longer than anticipated, by year-end
the number of active Representatives increased year-over-year
by 1% to 445,000. Also, units for the full year had risen in the
single digits. Importantly, the number of Avon’s top-selling Presi-
dent’s Club Representatives increased 2% for the year, and the
number of low-producing Representatives dropped almost 10%.

Pretax income in the U.S. in 1997 was impacted by increased
spending through the first half of the year on pricing strategies
and field incentives designed to boost sales. Increased invest-
ments in advertising and promotions, plus costs associated with
the centralization of returned goods and call center operations,
also affected pretax income.

Avon’s beauty business in the U.S. grew by 6% in 1997 as
sales of global brands climbed 13% and grew to account for
51% of CFT sales. Skin Care was especially strong as the
launches of the renovated, technologically advanced Anew line
and Avon Skin Care generated a 26% gain in skin care sales 
for the year. Sales of Avon Color increased for the third consecu-
tive year based on strong sales in the lip and nail segments. 
Fragrance sales were soft due to the disappointing results of 
Starring and a soft fragrance industry overall.

Personal Care rose 14% with the launch of Avon Techniques,
a breakthrough performance line of shampoos, conditioners and
styling products. Specialty bath products and a line of Barbie®

toiletries for girls also contributed to the strong personal care 
performance. Gifts also increased in 1997 due to the continued
success of the seasonal Barbie® dolls and the Mattel line of toys.

In apparel, sales of Avon Style decreased in 1997 due to
lower casualwear and demo sales in the first half of the year.
However, a strong fourth quarter performance in the sleepwear
and childrenswear categories helped to offset this decrease.

Accessories climbed significantly due to sales gains in 
organizer handbags and licensed products such as watches.

Jewelry, however, was down for the year, and Avon U.S. is 
implementing plans to upgrade quality and design to increase
customer demand.

Avon U.S. continued to explore innovative strategies to reach
new customers and enhance its beauty image. For example, the
direct mail catalogue test of Avon Beauty & Fashion by Mail
attracted incremental new customers who are spending more on
beauty than traditional customers. Avon’s newly renovated
worldwide web site, www.avon.com, attracted over 1 million
visitors last year. Moreover, Avon’s 1997 advertising campaign,
“Dare to change your mind about Avon,” invited consumers to
take another look at the company through print and television
ads that showcased Avon’s improved beauty image and break-
through skin care products.

Avon U.S. also initiated programs in 1997 to streamline its
business and provide improved service to Representatives and
customers. For example, the company opened its telephone call
center in Springdale in the fall. Beginning in 1999, the new call
center will save between $3–$5 million dollars annually. The
company’s consolidated returned goods center, also in Spring-
dale, became fully operational in 1997. Avon U.S. also
announced plans to close the Far East Buying Office, effective in
March 1998. This office had provided sourcing and logistics
support for gifts, home, jewelry and accessories products for the
U.S. business. These functions now will be outsourced and 
will provide greater access to unique products, help reduce
overhead, and improve gross margins.

3 AV O N Products, Inc.

AVON U.S.

1997 In millions % Change from 1996

Net Sales $1,733 +4%

Pretax Income $ 220 -3%

Techniques
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REV IEW OF OPERAT IONS

PACIF IC  REGION

Sales in the Pacific Region in 1997 rose 4%. Excluding the
effect of foreign exchange, sales climbed 14% as all markets
except Thailand grew in local currency terms. Also, every mar-
ket except Japan and New Zealand delivered double-digit local
currency sales increases. In addition, leading business indica-
tors gained as well: units grew 18%; orders rose 31%; the num-
ber of customers served increased 43%; and the number of
active Representatives climbed 30%. 

Pretax income for the region declined due to the impact of
the currency devaluations, and also due to profit pressures in
Japan. For the full year, the currency devaluations reduced pre-
tax income for the region by approximately $7 million. Exclud-
ing Japan, pretax income increased 17%.

In the Philippines, sales in 1997 climbed 12%, and 25% in
local currency terms. Aggressive customer growth programs
increased units by 22% and customers served by 59%. Recruit-
ing and retention programs increased the number of active 
Representatives by more than 100%. Avon Philippines enjoyed
continuing success with its teen apparel line, and also
expanded its teen CFT line with a Teen Color makeup collection.

Avon Taiwan had a banner year in 1997, with sales climb-
ing 36% (43% in local currency). Units, customers, and active
Representatives each increased dramatically over last year. The
introduction of a new sales strategy, coupled with a retail access
initiative, generated the gains. Avon Taiwan also boosted its
market penetration through Avon showrooms and opportunities
for selling in a well-known retail chain.

In Malaysia, sales grew 12% (24% excluding currency), 
with strong double-digit increases in key business indicators.
Avon Malaysia expanded its system of franchised beauty 
boutiques to 145, which contributed to a 54% increase in cus-
tomer transactions. Avon Indonesia increased sales by 19% in
local currency terms due to double-digit gains in customer
transactions and orders.

Sales in Avon Japan in 1997 declined in dollars, but grew
3% in local currency, despite weakened consumer spending
and intense competition, especially from discount outlets. The
local currency sales increase was the first in four years as a new
multiple order system and enhanced recruiting, retention and
customer growth programs helped increase units by 33% and
customers served by 57%. The number of active Representatives
also grew significantly.

Pretax income, however, declined in Japan in 1997 due to
heavy investments in the customer growth strategies, including

a 20% reduction in prices early in the year to make products
more competitive in the marketplace. Also, a shift in the sales
mix to lower-margin non-CFT products contributed to the pretax
income decline.

Management in Japan is restructuring the business to oper-
ate more efficiently and to reduce overhead costs. For example,
several improvements in the ordering process helped to reduce
product delivery to one or two days, and an ongoing early
retirement program reduced regular staff levels by 5%. Avon
Japan expects to deliver improved profitability in 1998.

In China, sales in 1997 rose 13% to $77 million, but pretax
income fell due to higher expenses associated with a planned
branch expansion. The Chinese government has been conducting
a lengthy recertification program of all direct selling companies.
As a result, the company was not able to open new branches
during the year, although most of the existing 76 branches were
relicensed. Management in China is reviewing a variety of
options for modifying our direct selling system for possible
implementation in the future.

In the established markets of Australia and New Zealand,
sales and pretax income continued to grow following the turn-
around of 1996. Avon India completed its first year of opera-
tions in 1997 with one branch in New Delhi.

1997 In millions % Change from 1996

Net Sales $782 +4%

Pretax Income $ 56 -24%

Fashion Makeup Group ( Japan)
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EUROPE REGION

1997 In millions % Change from 1996

Net Sales $ 812 +4%

Pretax Income $ 99 +82%

Sales in the Europe Region in 1997 increased 4% due to strong
growth in the U.K., the four countries of Central Europe, and in
Russia. In local currencies, sales rose 11%, and every country in
the region except Germany generated local currency sales
gains. Overall, units across the region increased 13% and the
number of active Representatives was up 12%.

Pretax income climbed 82% due to improved gross margins
in the U.K., ongoing expense reduction throughout the region,
and a $26.5 million gain from the settlement of a Value-Added
Tax (VAT) claim in the U.K. in the fourth quarter. Excluding the
VAT, pretax income in Europe was up 34%.

Avon U.K. in 1997 generated a 15% sales gain and a sub-
stantial increase in pretax income due to an improved mix of
higher-margin products. An intensified focus on global brands,
customer sampling and image enhancements, especially
through advertising and the Avon sales brochure, helped boost
sales of products such as Avon Color, Anew and Avon Skin
Care. Global brands in the U.K. last year grew to comprise
37% of the company’s CFT revenues.

Global fragrances such as Far Away and Rare Gold enabled
Avon U.K. to continue its dominance of the country’s fragrance
market. Avon U.K. last year boosted consumer sampling of fra-
grances via micro-encapsulation of product on brochure pages.
As a result, 35% of customers purchased an Avon fragrance in
1997, versus 24% in 1996. Suncare products like Bronze, and
continuing success of personal care products such as Naturals,
Avon Spa, Footworks and Advance, also contributed to the
sales growth.

The four countries of Central Europe – Poland, Hungary, 
Slovakia and the Czech Republic – delivered another outstand-
ing year in 1997. Sales advanced 19% (43% excluding ex-
change) on double-digit increases in units, customers and the
number of active Representatives. Sales of global brands
climbed 50%, driven by the launch of Avon Skin Care and con-
tinuing gains with Avon Color. Brand image advertising,
aggressive recruitment and training programs, and consumer
events all contributed to the increases. Avon also entered the
Eastern European markets of Romania, Ukraine and Croatia
during the latter half of the year.

Avon Russia continued its dramatic growth as the most 
successful market entry in Avon’s history. Sales in 1997 almost
doubled to $56 million. The number of active Representatives
more than doubled to 44,000 due to aggressive recruiting 
and Representative support programs. The company also ex-
panded eastward to major cities across European Russia.

In addition, Avon Russia opened an image-enhancing sales
center for Representatives in Moscow, and began exploring
fixed access strategies to accelerate market penetration. The
company also installed new assembly lines to increase manufac-
turing capacity and invested in system upgrades to support the
market’s rapid sales growth. Avon Russia was highly profitable
for the year.

In Germany, higher unemployment, weak consumer spend-
ing, and a shift to lower-priced products depressed sales and all
key business indicators. Management enacted programs to
increase market coverage, strengthen Avon’s image and gener-
ate customer growth.

Avon Italy increased sales by almost 7% in local currency on
strong unit growth. Pretax income climbed 79% due to effective
expense controls, organizational and logistical efficiency initia-
tives, and the continuing conversion of compensation for the
sales force from fixed to variable.

In Spain, sales were up 8% in local currency and pretax
income increased 26% as the company’s focus on winning
more customers generated continuing growth. Avon Portugal
increased sales by 12% in local currency, along with double-
digit gains in units and customers served. In France, a party
plan test and a Representative segmentation strategy were
enacted to enhance access for new customers. Pretax income
was up dramatically due to ongoing expense controls.

Bronze (U.K.)
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The following discussion of the results of operations and
financial condition of Avon Products, Inc. (“Avon” or “Com-
pany”) should be read in conjunction with the information
contained in the Consolidated Financial Statements and
Notes thereto. These statements have been prepared in con-
formity with generally accepted accounting principles and
require management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect amounts reported and disclosed in the financial
statements and related notes. Actual results could differ
from these estimates.

All share and per share data included in this report have
been restated to reflect a two-for-one stock split distributed
in June 1996.

Forward-Looking Statement
Certain statements in this report which are not historical
facts or information are forward-looking statements within
the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act
of 1995, including, but not limited to, the information set
forth herein. Such forward-looking statements involve
known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors
which may cause the actual results, levels of activity, perfor-
mance or achievement of the Company, or industry results,
to be materially different from any future results, levels of
activity, performance or achievement expressed or implied
by such forward-looking statements. Such factors include,
among others, the following: general economic and business
conditions; the ability of the Company to implement its busi-
ness strategy; the Company’s access to financing and its
management of foreign currency risks; the Company’s abili-
ty to successfully identify new business opportunities; the
Company’s ability to attract and retain key executives; the
Company’s ability to achieve anticipated cost savings and
profitability targets; changes in the industry; competition;
the effect of regulatory and legal restrictions imposed by for-
eign governments; the effect of regulatory and legal proceed-
ings and other factors discussed in Item 1 of the Company’s
Form 10-K. As a result of the foregoing and other factors, no
assurance can be given as to the future results and achieve-
ments of the Company. Neither the Company nor any other
person assumes responsibility for the accuracy and com-
pleteness of these statements.

Results of Operations
Consolidated – Net income in 1997 was $338.8 compared
with $317.9 in 1996. Basic and diluted earnings per share
in 1997 were $2.56 and $2.54, respectively, compared with
$2.38 and $2.36, respectively, in 1996. The 1997 results
include the benefit of a favorable settlement of a value-
added tax claim in the United Kingdom equal to approxi-
mately $26.5 on a pretax basis. The $26.5 gain represents a
$20.6 settlement of disputed value-added tax charges from
prior years, which is included in other (income) expense,
net, and $5.9 of interest which is included in interest
income. The net effect of this gain was to increase net
income by $16.7 and both basic and diluted earnings per
share by $.13. Net income for 1995 was $256.5, and basic
and diluted earnings per share were $1.88 and $1.87,
respectively. The 1995 results include a $29.6 after-tax
charge to discontinued operations and a $.22 per share
charge to both basic and diluted earnings per share relating
to a litigation settlement with Mallinckrodt Group, Inc.
(“Mallinckrodt”). See Note 3 of the Notes to the Consolidat-
ed Financial Statements for further discussion of this settle-
ment. In addition, the following one-time pretax items are
included in the 1995 results: a gain of $25.0, net of related
costs, from a cash settlement of a lease dispute and a $7.0
gain, net of related expenses, due to a value-added tax
refund in the United Kingdom. Partially offsetting these
gains were charges of $12.0 related to an early retirement
program implemented in Japan and $11.0 for severance
costs, primarily in Europe, as part of Avon’s program to
reduce fixed expenses in certain markets. The gain in the
United Kingdom and expenses in Japan and Europe are
included in marketing, distribution and administrative
expenses. The lease dispute related to prior year rent
charges for the Company’s previous headquarters building.
The $25.0 gain represents a $14.0 recovery of disputed rent,
which is included in marketing, distribution and adminis-
trative expenses, and $11.0 of interest, net of related costs,
which is included in other (income) expense, net. The net
effect of these one-time items was to increase income from
continuing operations and net income by $7.6 and to
increase both basic and diluted earnings per share by $.06.

MANAGEMENT’S  D ISCUSS ION AND ANALYS IS
Dollars in millions, except share data
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Continuing Operations – Income from continuing opera-
tions was $338.8, or 7% over 1996. Earnings per share from
continuing operations increased 8% on a basic and diluted
basis to $2.56 and $2.54, respectively, from 1996. This 8%
increase exceeded the 7% increase in income from continu-
ing operations reflecting the impact of lower average shares
outstanding in 1997 compared with the prior year due to the
continued stock repurchase program. See Note 9 of the
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further
discussion of this program. Pretax income was $534.9, a
5%, or $24.5, increase over prior year. The increase was due
to higher sales, the favorable value-added tax settlement in
the United Kingdom, previously discussed, lower foreign
exchange losses in 1997 and favorable minority interest due
mainly to the results in Japan. Net income was also favor-
ably impacted by a lower effective tax rate in 1997. These
favorable results were partially offset by a decline in the
gross margin and a slightly higher operating expense ratio.
Income from continuing operations in 1996 increased $31.8
and basic and diluted earnings per share increased $.28 and
$.27, respectively, from 1995.

On a consolidated basis, Avon’s net sales of $5.08 billion
increased 6% from $4.81 billion in 1996. International
sales increased 7% to $3.35 billion from $3.14 billion in
1996 due to strong growth in the Americas, most significant-
ly in Mexico, Argentina, Chile and Venezuela, and in the
United Kingdom, Russia, Central Europe and the Pacific
Rim, primarily Taiwan and the Philippines. These improve-
ments were partially offset by sales declines in Germany,
Brazil and Japan. Sales in the U.S., including the results of
Discovery Toys, Inc. which was acquired in early 1997,
increased 4% to $1.73 billion due to an increase in the aver-
age order size partially offset by a decrease in the number of
Representative orders. Excluding the impact of foreign cur-
rency exchange, consolidated net sales rose 10% over the
prior year. In 1996, consolidated net sales of $4.81 billion
increased 7% over 1995 reflecting an 8% increase in inter-
national sales due to strong growth in most markets in the
Americas, the Pacific Rim, Russia, the United Kingdom and
the Central European markets. These improvements were
partially offset by sales declines in Japan and, to a lesser
extent, Venezuela and Germany. 1996 sales in the U.S.
increased 6% to $1.67 billion due to an increase in both
average order size and number of Representative orders.
Excluding the impact of foreign currency exchange, 1996
consolidated sales increased 14% over 1995.

Cost of sales as a percentage of sales was 40.4% in 1997,
compared with 39.9% in 1996. The decline in gross margin
was primarily due to unfavorable cost ratios in Japan result-
ing from an aggressive pricing strategy and a shift in sales
mix to lower-margin items and in Brazil reflecting a con-
sumer shift towards lower-priced products as well as actions
taken to reduce inventory levels. These declines were par-
tially offset by a margin improvement in the United King-
dom due to a shift in sales mix to higher-margin items. In
1996, cost of sales as a percentage of sales was 39.9%, com-
pared with 39.4% in 1995. The decline in gross margin was
primarily due to an unfavorable cost ratio in Venezuela
reflecting the impact of the bolivar devaluations, a shift to
sales of lower-priced products in Japan and investments
made to reduce excess inventory in Brazil. These declines
were partially offset by margin improvements in Mexico,
Argentina and the United Kingdom.

Marketing, distribution and administrative expenses of
$2.48 billion increased $136.1, or 6%, from 1996 and
increased slightly as a percentage of sales to 48.9% from
48.8% in 1996. The increase in operating expenses was
attributed to markets which have experienced strong sales
growth, including Mexico, the United Kingdom, Russia, Tai-
wan and Venezuela. Operating expenses in the U.S.
increased due to higher strategic spending in advertising
and promotional support for new launches, the national roll-
out of Avon Home and costs associated with the centraliza-
tion of certain operational areas. In addition, operating
expenses in China were higher due to expenses incurred in
preparation for the planned opening of 24 new branches
during 1997 which were not put into operation because of
new government recertification requirements on direct sell-
ing activities. These increases were partially offset by lower
expenses in Germany due mainly to the impact of a stronger
U.S. dollar in 1997. In 1996, marketing, distribution and
administrative expenses of $2.35 billion increased $132.6,
or 6%, from 1995 and decreased as a percentage of sales to
48.8% from 49.3% in 1995. Excluding the 1995 one-time
items previously mentioned, operating expenses increased
$134.6. The increase in operating expenses reflects sales
volume-related increases in most markets in the Americas,
the Pacific Rim and in the U.S. and higher marketing and
distribution expenses in Brazil. These increases were par-
tially offset by lower expenses in Japan reflecting the sales
decline and the impact of a stronger U.S. dollar in 1996. In
addition, expense levels were lower in Germany due to a
continued active focus on expense reduction and in
Venezuela due to the impact of the bolivar devaluations. 
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Below is an analysis of the key factors affecting net sales and pretax income from continuing operations by geographic area
for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 1997.

Years ended December 31 1997 1996 1995

Net Pretax Net Pretax Net Pretax
Sales Income Sales Income Sales Income

United States $1,732.9 $219.8 $1,672.5 $227.3 $1,584.8 $211.6

International
Americas 1,752.6 310.8 1,609.9 291.9 1,466.9 265.8

Pacific 782.4 55.9 751.1 73.6 712.0 67.5

Europe 811.5 99.2 780.7 54.4 728.4 41.7

Total International 3,346.5 465.9 3,141.7 419.9 2,907.3 375.0

Total from operations $5,079.4 685.7 $4,814.2 647.2 $4,492.1 586.6

Corporate expenses (104.3) (95.4) (74.6)

Interest expense (41.8) (40.0) (41.3)

Other expense, net (4.7) (1.4) (5.7)

Total $534.9 $510.4 $465.0

The decrease in the operating expense ratio reflects
improvements in most European markets due to continued
fixed expense reduction efforts, in Venezuela due to the
impact of the bolivar devaluations and in Mexico and China
due primarily to the significant sales growth. These improve-
ments were partially offset by an unfavorable expense ratio
in Japan due to the sales decline.

Interest expense in 1997 of $41.8 increased $1.8 com-
pared to the prior year primarily due to increased domestic
debt levels partially offset by lower average debt outstand-
ing in Brazil in 1997. Interest expense in 1996 of $40.0
decreased $1.3 from 1995 as a result of lower interest rates
partially offset by slightly higher debt levels.

Interest income in 1997 of $16.7 increased $2.2 
compared to last year due to the interest portion of the 
previously discussed favorable value-added tax settlement
in the United Kingdom partially offset by lower interest
rates in Brazil and lower cash investment levels in the U.S.
Interest income in 1996 of $14.5 decreased $4.9 compared
to 1995 due to lower interest rates in Brazil and Mexico and
lower cash investment levels in Brazil and in the U.S.

Other (income) expense, net, was $24.8 favorable to prior
year due to the $20.6 portion of the previously discussed
favorable value-added tax settlement in the United Kingdom
as well as lower foreign exchange losses in 1997. Other
(income) expense, net, was $8.9 in 1996, an $11.7 decrease
from 1995. The decrease primarily reflects favorable corpo-
rate non-operating items and lower foreign exchange losses

in 1996, partially offset by the $11.0 portion of the previous-
ly discussed favorable lease settlement in 1995.

Income taxes were $197.9 in 1997 and the effective tax
rate was 37.0% compared with $191.4 and an effective tax
rate of 37.5% in 1996. The effective tax rate was lower in
1997 due to the mix of earnings and income tax rates of
international subsidiaries. In 1996, the effective tax rate
was 37.5% compared with 37.9% in 1995. The lower effec-
tive tax rate in 1996 resulted from the mix of earnings and
income tax rates of international subsidiaries, including a
decrease in Brazil’s statutory corporate tax rate.

Inflation in the United States has remained at a relatively
low level during the last three years and has not had a major
effect on Avon’s results of operations. Many countries in
which Avon has operations have experienced higher rates of
inflation than the United States. Among the countries in
which Avon has significant operations, Brazil has experi-
enced high rates of inflation for a number of years. The
annual inflation rate in Brazil, however, has decreased sig-
nificantly over the last three years as the economic environ-
ment has improved as a result of the government’s economic
stabilization program implemented in mid-1994. Due to the
reduced cumulative inflation rate over the past three years,
Brazil, previously designated as a country with a highly
inflationary economy, was converted to non-hyperinflationary
status effective July 1, 1997. Venezuela and Mexico experi-
enced high cumulative rates of inflation over the three-year
period 1995 through 1997.
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U.S. – U.S. sales increased 4% to $1.73 billion and pretax
income decreased 3% to $219.8 in 1997. Excluding the
results of Discovery Toys, sales were up 1% and pretax
income decreased 2%. The 1% sales growth reflected a 3%
increase in average order size partially offset by a 2%
decrease in the number of Representative orders. Units sold
increased 4% over 1996. The sales improvement resulted
from increases in the cosmetics, fragrance and toiletries
(“CFT”) and gift and decorative categories partially offset by
declines in apparel. The growth in the CFT category was dri-
ven by the launches of Anew Retinol Recovery Complex and
Avon Techniques hair care line in addition to the first quarter
1997 product introductions in the specialty bath segment,
such as California Bath and the Soft and Sensual line exten-
sion of the Skin-So-Soft brand. Additionally, the renovated
Anew launch in early 1997 contributed to higher CFT sales.
The continued success of the seasonal Barbie dolls, the
launch of Avon Home and the success of the Mattel line of
toys led to the increase in gift and decorative sales. Apparel
sales were lower in 1997 due to the success of the Olympic
Games collection in 1996 and lower sales of demonstration
products in the first two quarters of 1997. The decrease in
pretax income resulted from a lower gross margin and a
higher operating expense ratio. The decline in gross margin
was due to strategic price investments in CFT products
aimed at energizing customer sales and the addition of Avon
Home, a lower-margin new business. The unfavorable oper-
ating expense ratio was driven by higher expenses related to
advertising and promotional support for new products, costs
associated with the centralization of the returned goods and
call center operations and increased field incentives
designed to drive sales. In addition, operational costs asso-
ciated with higher returned goods processing in 1997 con-
tributed to the unfavorable expense ratio.

In 1996, U.S. sales increased 6% to $1.67 billion and
pretax income increased 7% to $227.3. The sales growth
reflected a 4% increase in average order size and a 2%
increase in the number of Representative orders. The sales
improvement was driven by significant increases in the gift
and decorative, apparel and CFT categories. These improve-
ments were partially offset by a decline in sales of the fash-
ion jewelry and accessories category. The growth in the gift
and decorative category resulted mainly from the success of
both the Spring Blossom and Winter Velvet Barbie dolls intro-

duced in 1996. The Winter Velvet Barbie doll was the most
successful new product introduction in Avon’s history. The
success of the Diane Von Furstenberg spring and summer
collections, novelty and children’s lines and the launch of
Legwear in 1996 contributed to the increase in apparel
sales. The growth in the CFT category consisted primarily of
increases in sales of personal care and fragrance products.
The growth of personal care products was driven by the spe-
cialty bath segment which in 1996 reflected an aggressive
new products program and a heightened promotional focus.
Sales of fragrance products rose due to the introduction of
several new fragrances including Millennia, Sunny Sky and
Butterfly. Units sold decreased 2% from 1995. Despite
strong sales growth in the gift and decorative category, units
sold in this category decreased due to increased sales of
higher-priced items such as the collectible Barbie dolls.
Lower sales of fashion jewelry and accessories also resulted
in unit declines. In addition, units decreased due to a shift
in emphasis to higher quality premium-priced global
brands, such as Avon Color, and away from promotional
products and commodity items such as roll-ons, mini-
colognes, bubble bath and talc. Despite increased expenses
in 1996 due to investments in both advertising and direct
access strategies, the operating expense ratio remained
level with the prior year. The increase in pretax income was
primarily due to the sales increase and a slightly improved
gross margin.

International – International sales increased 7% to $3.35
billion and pretax income increased 11% to $465.9. The
sales increase reflected strong growth in the Americas, par-
ticularly in Mexico, Argentina, Chile and Venezuela, and in
the United Kingdom, Russia, Central Europe and the Pacific
Rim, most significantly in Taiwan and the Philippines.
These improvements were partially offset by sales declines
in Germany, Brazil and Japan, discussed below. Excluding
the impact of foreign currency exchange, international sales
grew 13% over 1996.

In the Americas Region, sales increased 9% to $1.75 bil-
lion and pretax income increased 6%, or $18.9, to $310.8
from $291.9 in 1996. The sales improvement was driven by
tremendous growth in Mexico reflecting strong increases in
the number of orders, average order size and active Repre-
sentatives primarily due to customer growth initiatives.
These initiatives included incentive programs focused on
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retention, increased sampling on breakthrough products
such as Anew Vitamin C, increased advertising and an
emphasis on market penetration in metropolitan areas. The
sales increase in the region also reflected significant unit
growth in Argentina and Chile and an increased average
order size in Venezuela. In addition, Central American mar-
kets and the Dominican Republic posted strong sales
increases in 1997 attributable to growth in units and active
Representatives. These improvements were partially offset
by a significant sales decline in Brazil. In 1997, consumers
in Brazil experienced a tightening of credit which limited
their purchasing ability resulting in declines in units sold
and active Representatives. To improve Representative
count, aggressive retention and achievement programs were
implemented including incentives and premiums to improve
activity and order size. Excluding the impact of foreign cur-
rency exchange, sales in the Americas were up 14% over
1996. The increase in the region’s pretax income was pri-
marily due to favorable results in Mexico reflecting the
strong sales increase, described above, combined with a
favorable operating expense ratio. In addition, pretax profits
were higher in Argentina and Chile due mainly to the sales
growth. These improvements were partially offset by a lower
pretax profit in Brazil due to a significant gross margin
decline and an unfavorable operating expense ratio. The
gross margin decline resulted from a shift in consumer pref-
erences towards lower-priced products and margin invest-
ments relating to inventory reduction efforts. The
unfavorable operating expense ratio in Brazil was driven by
the sales decline. Actions are underway in Brazil to reduce
manufacturing and customer service costs, negotiate better
conditions and costs with vendors and introduce more global
products with a higher price and improved margin.

In the Pacific Region, sales increased 4% to $782.4 and
pretax income decreased 24% to $55.9 from $73.6 in 1996.
The increase in sales was driven by operational improve-
ments in the Pacific Rim, most significantly in Taiwan and
the Philippines. Growth in units, customers served and
active Representatives was significant in both Taiwan and
the Philippines. Taiwan’s sales performance was the
strongest in the region resulting from successful merchandis-
ing campaigns, product launches supported by strong adver-
tising and promotional activities including the introduction
of Lighten Up Undereye Treatment, and effective field sales

programs in 1997. The sales growth in the Philippines was
driven by successful new and extended CFT lines, a new line
of children’s apparel and an additional service center in
1997. These improvements were partially offset by a signifi-
cant sales decline in Japan due primarily to an unfavorable
exchange impact of a stronger U.S. dollar in 1997 and a
reduction in the average order size. Excluding the impact of
foreign currency exchange, sales in the Pacific were up 14%.
The decrease in the region’s pretax income resulted from
declines in Japan and, to a lesser extent, in China. The gross
margin in Japan declined significantly as a result of strategic
pricing programs as well as a shift in sales mix to lower-mar-
gin non-CFT items. The competitive environment remains
intense in Japan with the continued relaxation of import
restrictions and the accelerated growth in discount outlets.
As a result, prices were adjusted earlier this year to make
products more competitive in the marketplace. Efforts have
been focused on restructuring the business in Japan for
improved profitability including innovative recruiting pro-
grams, enhanced advertising campaigns and new systems
focused on improving customer access. Despite sales growth
in China, pretax profits declined due to the current govern-
ment licensing revalidation process of all direct selling com-
panies. As a result, no new branches were opened in 1997,
but the expense base associated with the planned expansions
negatively impacted China’s pretax profit. The region’s pretax
income was also negatively impacted by currency devalua-
tions throughout Southeast Asia.

Several currencies in the Pacific Rim devalued signifi-
cantly during 1997. The Thai baht devalued by 57%, the
Philippine peso by 34%, the Malaysian ringgit by 39% and
the Indonesian rupiah by 61%. These devaluations lowered
pretax income by approximately $7.0 for the full year. In
response to this situation, several actions have been taken
by local management including cost negotiations with ven-
dors and a focus on growing the Representative base. In
terms of size, these markets represented approximately 5%
of Avon’s consolidated net sales in 1997.

In the Europe Region, sales increased 4% to $811.5 and
pretax income increased $44.8, or 82%, to $99.2 in 1997.
The sales increase was primarily due to strong growth in the
United Kingdom resulting from an increased average order
size, unit growth and a favorable exchange rate impact. The
sales growth in the United Kingdom was also attributable to
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a focus on improving market share through brand and image
enhancement. Customers have been spending more as a
function of the improvement in image and the quality of the
Avon brochure. The European sales improvement was also
driven by unit and active Representative growth in Russia
and in Central Europe, primarily Poland. Russia continues
to exceed expectations as the most successful startup mar-
ket in Avon’s history. Russia’s success was attributable to a
strong Representative structure, geographic expansion into
new cities, installation of new assembly lines which
increased capacity and investment in system upgrades to
support the sales growth. These improvements were partial-
ly offset by sales shortfalls in Germany resulting from an
unfavorable exchange impact of a stronger U.S. dollar in
1997 and a weak economic environment which led to lower
consumer spending and higher unemployment. Excluding
the impact of foreign currency exchange, sales in Europe
increased 11% over 1996. Excluding the impact of the
favorable value-added tax settlement in the United King-
dom, previously discussed, pretax income rose $18.3, or
34%, over 1996. This increase was mainly due to the overall
sales increase and an improved gross margin in the United
Kingdom resulting from a favorable product mix of higher-
margin items in 1997. Additionally, the continued effect of
expense reduction efforts in Europe contributed to a lower
operating expense ratio.

In 1996, international sales increased 8% to $3.14 bil-
lion and pretax income increased 12% to $419.9. Excluding
the 1995 one-time items previously mentioned, pretax
income increased 8%. The sales increase reflected strong
unit growth in most markets in the Americas Region, the
Pacific Rim, the United Kingdom, Russia and Central
Europe. These improvements were partially offset by sales
declines in Japan attributable to both operational and eco-
nomic factors, discussed below, and, to a lesser extent, in
Venezuela due to the impact of the bolivar devaluations and
in Germany due to both operational declines as well as a
negative foreign currency impact in 1996. Excluding the
impact of foreign currency exchange, international sales
were up 18% over 1995.

In the Americas Region, 1996 sales increased 10% to
$1.61 billion and pretax income increased 10%, or $26.1, 
to $291.9 from $265.8 in 1995. The sales increase was dri-
ven by growth in almost every market in the region, most

significantly in Mexico and Brazil. Higher sales in Mexico
reflected increases in prices at a rate below the inflation
level, as well as increases in average order size and unit
growth. The number of active Representatives in Mexico
continued to grow from the prior year due to the implemen-
tation of incentive programs focused on retention and
increasing the number of orders. Brazil’s sales growth was
due to double-digit increases in unit volume and customers.
The growth in Brazil’s number of customers resulted from a
revision of pricing strategies and new product launches
aimed at increasing customer orders in response to an
increasingly intense competitive environment in 1996. The
sales increase in the region also reflected strong unit growth
in Chile, Argentina and Central America. These improve-
ments were partially offset by the decline in Venezuela
resulting mainly from the negative impact of a devaluation
of the bolivar. Venezuela did, however, have double-digit
increases in both local currency sales and in active Repre-
sentatives in 1996 attributable to a focus on building market
share and Representative growth. The increase in the
region’s pretax income was primarily due to favorable
results in Mexico reflecting the strong sales increase com-
bined with a lower rate of increase in operating expenses, an
improved gross margin and foreign exchange gains in 1996
compared to losses in 1995. The operating expense ratio in
Mexico improved significantly as a result of an expense con-
trol program implemented in 1996. In addition, pretax profit
was higher in Chile due mainly to sales growth. These
improvements were partially offset by a lower pretax profit in
Venezuela, as a result of the bolivar devaluation, and in
Brazil reflecting a lower gross margin and an unfavorable
operating expense ratio. The gross margin decline in Brazil
resulted from investments to reduce excess inventory as well
as an aggressive pricing policy to respond to intensified
competitive pressures. The unfavorable operating expense
ratio reflected increased investments in marketing and high-
er facilities expenses related to a new distribution center. In
addition, a higher volume of lower-priced units in 1996
resulted in increased distribution expenses.

In the Pacific Region, 1996 sales increased 6% to $751.1
and pretax income, excluding Japan’s early retirement pro-
gram costs in 1995 mentioned previously, decreased 7% to
$73.6 from $79.5 in 1995. The increase in sales was driven
by strong operational improvements in the Philippines and
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China, and, to a lesser extent, in Taiwan, Malaysia and Aus-
tralia. Sales growth in virtually all of these markets was
accompanied by strong increases in units sold, customers
served and active Representatives. These improvements
were partially offset by a significant sales decline in Japan
resulting from the unfavorable exchange impact of a
stronger U.S. dollar in 1996, a shift in pricing strategy to
sales of lower-priced products and a decrease in average
order size. These shortfalls resulted from both internal oper-
ational factors, including changes made to the Representa-
tive commission structure at the beginning of 1996, and
external conditions such as the relaxation of cosmetic
import regulations which led to accelerated retail pricing
competition. To address these challenges, organizational
changes were made in July 1996 to better integrate the sales
and marketing functions. In addition, national recruiting
drives among sales managers and Representatives were con-
ducted and product offerings in the gift and decorative and
CFT categories were enhanced. In late December 1996,
aggressive actions to align price levels more closely to the
market were taken in Japan. These actions resulted in a
20% reduction in CFT prices. The decrease in the region’s
pretax income resulted from operational difficulties in Japan
including a decline in the gross margin due to a continuous
focus on lower-priced impulse items in an attempt to
increase consumer appeal, as well as an unfavorable
expense ratio caused by the significant sales decline,
despite a decrease in operating expenses. In addition, pre-
tax profits declined in Thailand due to an unfavorable oper-
ating expense ratio caused by lower sales combined with
higher spending for incentive awards in 1996. These
decreases were partially offset by favorable results in the
Philippines due to the significant sales growth and in China
due mainly to higher sales and an improved operating
expense ratio. In addition, pretax profits were higher in
Malaysia, Australia and Taiwan.

In the Europe Region, 1996 sales increased 7% to
$780.7. Excluding the 1995 one-time items, pretax income
increased $10.3, or 24%, to $54.4 in 1996. The sales
increase was due to unit growth in Russia, the United King-
dom and Central Europe. The Representative base in Russia
and Central Europe has grown significantly in 1996 due to a
continuous focus on expansion of operations in these mar-
kets. Sales also rose in Italy mainly due to a favorable

impact of a weaker U.S. dollar in 1996. These improvements
were partially offset by sales shortfalls in Germany reflect-
ing a shift to lower-priced items and weak economic condi-
tions, including increased unemployment, which resulted in
a general decline in consumer confidence and spending in
1996. Aggressive discounting from competitors and a nega-
tive currency impact also contributed to the sales decline in
Germany. New initiatives were launched in Germany to
improve market coverage, enhance Avon’s image and stimu-
late customer growth. The increase in pretax income was
mainly due to the overall sales increase and favorable oper-
ating expense ratios in most markets due to the continued
effect of fixed expense reduction efforts. Central European
markets posted strong pretax profits reflecting double-digit
increases in units, customers served and active Representa-
tives despite gross margin declines from targeted pricing
investments to accelerate market penetration in 1996.

See Foreign Operations section under Liquidity and Cap-
ital Resources for additional discussion.

Corporate Expenses – Corporate expenses were $104.3 in
1997 compared with $95.4 in 1996. The $8.9 increase
reflected increased expenses in 1997 associated with
process redesign and system initiatives. In 1996, corporate
expenses were $95.4 compared with $74.6 in 1995. The
$20.8 increase was primarily due to the favorable lease set-
tlement in 1995 and higher expenses in 1996 for informa-
tion systems upgrades and enhancements.

Other Expense, Net – Other expense, net, includes corpo-
rate non-operating income and expense items and corporate
interest income. Other expense, net, was $4.7 in 1997 com-
pared with $1.4 in 1996, an increase of $3.3, due to higher
non-operating expenses and lower interest income resulting
from lower cash investment levels partially offset by favor-
able exchange in 1997. Other expense, net, was $1.4 in
1996 compared with $5.7 in 1995, a decrease of $4.3, due to
lower non-operating expenses partially offset by the $11.0
portion of the 1995 lease settlement.

Accounting Changes – Effective December 31, 1997, the
Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Stan-
dards (“FAS”) No. 128, “Earnings per Share”. FAS No. 128
establishes standards for computing and presenting earn-
ings per share (“EPS”) and replaces the presentation of pre-
viously disclosed EPS with both basic and diluted EPS.
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Based upon the Company’s capitalization structure, the EPS
amounts calculated in accordance with FAS No. 128
approximated the Company’s EPS amounts in accordance
with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 15, “Earn-
ings per Share”. All prior period EPS data have been restat-
ed in accordance with FAS No. 128.

Effective January 1, 1996, the Company adopted FAS No.
121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed of”. This statement
requires that long-lived assets and certain identifiable intan-
gibles to be held and used by an entity be reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of assets may not be recov-
erable. There was no impact on the Company’s results of
operations or financial position in adopting this statement.

Also, effective January 1, 1996, the Company adopted the
fair value disclosure requirements of FAS No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”. As permitted
by the statement, the Company did not change the method of
accounting for its employee stock compensation plans. See
Note 8 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the fair value disclosures required under FAS No. 123.

Recent Pronouncements – In June 1997, the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued FAS No. 130,
“Reporting Comprehensive Income”. FAS No. 130 estab-
lishes standards for the reporting and display of comprehen-
sive income and its components in a full set of
general-purpose financial statements. Comprehensive
income is defined as the change in equity during a period
from transactions and other events and circumstances from
non-owner sources. FAS No. 130 is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 1997. The adoption of FAS
No. 130 will have no impact on the Company’s results of
operations or financial position.

Also, in June 1997, the FASB issued FAS No. 131, “Dis-
closure about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Infor-
mation”. FAS No. 131 establishes standards for the way that
publicly-held companies report information about operating
segments in annual financial statements and requires that
those enterprises report selected information about operat-
ing segments in interim financial reports issued to share-
holders. It also establishes standards for related disclosures
about products and services, geographic areas and major

customers. FAS No. 131 is effective for fiscal years begin-
ning after December 15, 1997. The adoption of FAS No. 131
will have no impact on the Company’s results of operations
or financial position.

Discontinued Operations – In December 1995, the Com-
pany entered into an agreement with Mallinckrodt, which
fully settled the litigation initiated by Mallinckrodt. The set-
tlement covers all indemnity obligations related to Avon’s
sale of Mallinckrodt, including environmental clean-up
claims and litigation concerning Mallinckrodt’s settlement
of a DuPont patent claim.

The settlement payments made by Avon to Mallinckrodt,
and related costs, resulted in an after-tax charge to discon-
tinued operations in the fourth quarter of 1995, net of exist-
ing reserves, of $29.6 and a charge to both basic and diluted
earnings per share of $.22. Since the Company had capital
loss carryforwards, no tax benefits were recognized on the
loss in 1995.

Contingencies – Although Avon has completed its divesti-
ture of all discontinued operations, various lawsuits and
claims (asserted and unasserted) are pending or threatened
against Avon. The Company is also involved in a number of
proceedings arising out of the federal Superfund law and
similar state laws. In some instances, Avon, along with other
companies, has been designated as a potentially responsible
party which may be liable for costs associated with these
various hazardous waste sites. In the opinion of Avon’s man-
agement, based on its review of the information available at
this time, the difference, if any, between the total cost of
resolving such contingencies and reserves recorded by Avon
at December 31, 1997 should not have a material adverse
impact on Avon’s consolidated financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Cash Flows – Net cash provided by continuing operations
was $315.5 in 1997 compared to $425.1 in 1996. The 1997
decrease in net cash provided by continuing operations
principally reflects, among other things, a higher working
capital level partially offset by higher net income in 1997.
The higher funding of working capital included the settle-
ment of tax issues in the U.S. and the conclusion of the
three-year long-term incentive plan which resulted in a cash
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payment during the first quarter of 1997. A more detailed
analysis of the individual items contributing to the 1997 and
1996 amounts is included in the Consolidated Statement of
Cash Flows.

There was no cash used by discontinued operations in
1997, compared to $38.2 in 1996 and $49.6 in 1995. The
$38.2 cash used in 1996 primarily reflected final payment of
the Mallinckrodt settlement in January 1996, while the
$49.6 in 1995 primarily reflected the initial payment of the
Mallinckrodt settlement. See discussion above in the Dis-
continued Operations section regarding this settlement.

Excluding changes in debt, net cash usage of $78.7 in
1997 was $72.1 unfavorable compared to net cash usage of
$6.6 in 1996. During 1997, the Company received net pro-
ceeds of approximately $58.6 under a securities lending
transaction which was used to repay domestic commercial
paper borrowings and is included in the cash flows as other
financing activities. See Note 5 of the Notes to the Consoli-
dated Financial Statements for further discussion of this
transaction. Excluding changes in debt and other financing
activities, there was a net increase in cash usage of $130.7.
This variance reflected lower cash provided by continuing
operations, higher capital expenditures and an unfavorable
exchange rate impact on cash. These uses were partially off-
set by the unfavorable impact of discontinued operations
reflected in 1996 cash flows and lower repurchases of com-
mon stock in 1997. Excluding changes in debt, net cash
usage of $6.6 in 1996 was $38.1 favorable compared to net
cash usage of $44.7 in 1995. This improvement reflects
higher cash provided by continuing operations as well as
lower cash used in 1996 for discontinued operations, par-
tially offset by higher capital expenditures, higher cash used
for the repurchase of common stock, an unfavorable
exchange rate impact on cash and higher dividend payments
in 1996. For the period 1994 through 1997, 14.5 million
shares of common stock have been purchased for approxi-
mately $533.7 under the stock repurchase programs. See
Note 9 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial State-
ments for further details of the stock repurchase programs.

Working Capital – As of December 31, 1997, current liabili-
ties exceeded current assets by $11.9 compared with $41.7 at
the end of 1996. The variance was primarily due to a decrease
in income taxes and sales and other taxes and an increase in
inventories, as discussed in the Inventories section, partially
offset by an increase in net debt (debt less cash and equiva-

lents). The decrease in income taxes was mainly due to the
settlement of tax issues in the U.S., and the decrease in sales
and other taxes was primarily due to the value-added tax set-
tlement in the United Kingdom, previously discussed. See
Note 6 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for discussion on the tax settlement in the U.S. The increase
in net debt was mainly due to the reclassification of the 170
million 61⁄8% deutsche mark notes from long-term to short-
term with payment due in May 1998 partially offset by lower
international debt levels in 1997.

Avon’s liquidity results from its ability to generate signifi-
cant cash flows from operations and its ample unused borrow-
ing capacity. Avon’s credit agreements do not contain any
provisions or requirements with respect to working capital.

Capital Resources – Total debt of $234.3 at December 31,
1997, increased $32.7 from $201.6 at December 31, 1996,
compared with an increase of $40.1 from December 31,
1995. In addition, at December 31, 1997, other non-current
liabilities included approximately $58.6 related to securi-
ties lending activities. See Note 5 of the Notes to the Consol-
idated Financial Statements for further discussion of these
activities. During 1997, cash flows from continuing opera-
tions and other financing activities combined with higher
debt levels and cash on hand were used for dividends,
repurchase of common stock and capital expenditures. Dur-
ing 1996, cash flows from continuing operations and higher
debt levels, partially offset by higher cash and equivalents,
were used for dividends, the stock repurchase program, cap-
ital expenditures, a payment made related to discontinued
operations and the purchase of a company in South Africa.
During 1995, cash flows from continuing operations as well
as cash on hand were used for dividends, the stock repur-
chase program, capital expenditures, a payment made relat-
ed to discontinued operations and the reduction of debt.

Debt maturing within one year consisted of borrowings
from banks of $29.4 and the current maturities of long-term
debt of $102.7. Management believes that cash from opera-
tions and available sources of financing are adequate to
meet anticipated requirements for working capital, divi-
dends, capital expenditures, the stock repurchase program
and other cash needs.

During 1997, the Company issued $100.0 of 6.55%
notes, due August 1, 2007, for which the net proceeds were
used to pay down commercial paper borrowings.
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During 1996, the Company entered into an agreement,
which expires in 2001, with various banks to amend and
restate the five-year, $600.0 revolving credit and competi-
tive advance facility agreement, which was entered into in
1994. Within this facility, the Company is able to borrow, on
an uncommitted basis, various foreign currencies. The new
agreement and the prior agreement are referred to, collec-
tively, as the credit facility.

The credit facility is primarily to be used to finance work-
ing capital, provide support for the issuance of commercial
paper and support the stock repurchase program. At the
Company’s option, the interest rate on borrowings under the
credit facility is based on LIBOR, prime or federal fund
rates. The credit facility has an annual facility fee of $.4.
The credit facility contains a covenant for interest coverage,
as defined. The Company is in compliance with this
covenant. At December 31, 1996, borrowings of $29.7 were
outstanding under the credit facility. There were no borrow-
ings outstanding at December 31, 1997.

At December 31, 1996, Avon had $34.1 outstanding
under a $500.0 commercial paper program supported by the
credit facility. In addition, the Company has bankers’ accep-
tance facilities and uncommitted lines of credit available of
$205.0 with various banks which have no compensating bal-
ances or fees. As of December 31, 1997 and 1996, there
were no borrowings under these facilities. In addition, as of
December 31, 1997 and 1996, there were international lines
of credit totaling $295.8 and $357.0, respectively, of which
$29.4 and $30.2, respectively, were outstanding. There were
no compensating balances or fees under these facilities.

Inventories – Avon’s products are marketed during twelve
to twenty-six individual sales campaigns each year. Each
campaign is conducted using a brochure offering a wide
assortment of products, many of which change from cam-
paign to campaign. It is necessary for Avon to maintain rela-
tively high inventory levels as a result of the nature of its
business, including the number of campaigns conducted
annually and the large number of products marketed. Avon’s
operations have a seasonal pattern characteristic of many
companies selling CFT, fashion jewelry and accessories, gift
and decorative items and apparel. Christmas sales cause a

peak in the fourth quarter which results in the build up of
inventory at the end of the third quarter. Inventory levels are
then sharply reduced by the end of the fourth quarter. Inven-
tories of $564.8 at December 31, 1997 were $34.8 higher
than 1996 due to higher inventory levels in the U.S. and
China and business growth and continued expansion into
Central Europe and Russia. The increase in the U.S. reflects
higher CFT levels to support expansion of these lines in
1998 and the addition of Avon Home in 1997 partially offset
by a lower level of apparel inventory. China’s higher invento-
ry level at December 31, 1997 resulted from lower than
expected sales in the fourth quarter. Additionally, the delay
of planned branch expansion in China, discussed previous-
ly, contributed to a higher production of inventory during the
year. These increases were partially offset by lower levels in
Brazil due to inventory reduction programs in 1997 and in
the Philippines due primarily to currency devaluation. It is
Avon’s objective to continue to manage purchases and
inventory levels maintaining the focus of operating the busi-
ness at efficient inventory levels. However, the addition or
expansion of product lines such as apparel, jewelry and
impulse gift items, products that are subject to changing
fashion trends and consumer tastes, as well as planned
expansion in high growth markets, may cause the inventory
levels to grow periodically.

Capital Expenditures – Capital expenditures during 1997
were $169.4 (1996 – $103.6). These expenditures were made
for capacity expansion in high growth markets, most signifi-
cantly in China, to maintain worldwide facilities, for contem-
porization and replacement of information systems and for
the relocation of the global and U.S. office facilities. Numer-
ous construction and information systems projects were in
progress at December 31, 1997 with an estimated cost to
complete of approximately $107.0. Capital expenditures in
1998 are currently expected to be in the range of $140.0 –
$160.0. These expenditures will include maintenance on
existing facilities, continued investments for capacity expan-
sion in high growth markets, facility modernization, informa-
tion systems and equipment replacement projects. 
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Foreign Operations – The Company derived approximate-
ly 66% and 68% of its 1997 consolidated net sales and con-
solidated pretax income from operations, respectively, from
its international subsidiaries. In addition, as of December
31, 1997, international subsidiaries comprised approxi-
mately 58% of the Company’s consolidated total assets.

Avon’s operations in many countries utilize numerous cur-
rencies. Avon has significant net assets in the United King-
dom, Argentina, Japan, Germany, the Philippines and
Canada. Changes in the value of these countries’ currencies
relative to the U.S. dollar result in direct charges or credits to
equity. Avon also has substantial operations in Brazil, a
country which has experienced extremely high rates of infla-
tion for a number of years. However, due to the reduced
cumulative inflation rate over the past three years, Brazil,
previously designated as a country with a highly inflationary
economy, was converted to non-hyperinflationary status
effective July 1, 1997. Effective January 1, 1997, Mexico was
designated as a country with a highly inflationary economy
due to the cumulative inflation rates over the past three years.

Several currencies in the Pacific Rim devalued signifi-
cantly during 1997. The Thai baht devalued by 57%, the
Philippine peso by 34%, the Malaysian ringgit by 39% and
the Indonesian rupiah by 61%. These devaluations lowered
pretax income by approximately $7.0 for the full year. In
response to this situation, several actions have been taken
by local management including cost negotiations with ven-
dors and a focus on growing the Representative base. In
terms of size, these markets represented approximately 5%
of Avon’s consolidated net sales in 1997. Avon’s well diver-
sified global portfolio of businesses has demonstrated that
the effects of weak economies and currency fluctuations in
certain countries may be offset by strong results in others.

Fluctuations in the value of foreign currencies cause U.S.
dollar-translated amounts to change in comparison with pre-
vious periods. Accordingly, Avon cannot project in any
meaningful way the possible effect of such fluctuations upon
translated amounts or future earnings. This is due to the
large number of currencies involved, the constantly chang-
ing exposure in these currencies, the complexity of inter-
company relationships, the hedging activity entered into in
an attempt to minimize certain of the effects of exchange
rate changes where economically feasible and the fact that
all foreign currencies do not react in the same manner
against the U.S. dollar.

Certain of the Company’s financial instruments, which
are discussed below under Risk Management Strategies and
Market Rate Sensitive Instruments and in Note 7 of the
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, are used to
hedge various amounts relating to certain international sub-
sidiaries. However, the Company’s foreign currency hedging
activities are not significant when compared to the Compa-
ny’s international financial position or results of operations.

Some foreign subsidiaries rely primarily on short-term
borrowings from local commercial banks to fund working
capital needs created by their highly seasonal sales pattern.
From time to time, when tax and other considerations dic-
tate, Avon will finance subsidiary working capital needs or
borrow foreign currencies. At December 31, 1997, the total
indebtedness of foreign subsidiaries was $33.9.

It is Avon’s policy to remit all the available cash (cash in
excess of working capital requirements, having no legal
restrictions and not considered permanently reinvested) of
foreign subsidiaries as rapidly as is practical. During 1997,
these subsidiaries remitted, net of taxes, $269.9 in dividends
and royalties. This sum is a substantial portion of the 1997
consolidated net earnings of Avon’s foreign subsidiaries.

Risk Management Strategies and Market Rate Sensitive
Instruments – The Company operates globally, with manu-
facturing and distribution facilities in various locations
around the world. The Company may reduce its primary
market exposures to fluctuations in interest rates and foreign
exchange rates by creating offsetting positions through the
use of derivative financial instruments. The Company cur-
rently does not use derivative financial instruments for trad-
ing or speculative purposes, nor is the Company a party to
leveraged derivatives.

The Company periodically uses interest rate swaps to
hedge portions of interest payable on its debt. In addition, the
Company may periodically employ interest rate caps to
reduce exposure, if any, to increases in variable interest rates.

During a substantial portion of the three-year period
ended December 31, 1997, the Company utilized interest
rate swaps to effectively convert variable interest on its long-
term debt to a fixed interest rate. From January 1995
through July 10, 1995, due to the expiration of an interest
rate swap, the interest payable on the 61⁄8% deutsche mark
notes (“Notes”) became variable at a rate of one-month
LIBOR plus 1.4%. During this period, the Company had an
interest rate cap in place to reduce its exposure to increases
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in that variable interest rate above a specified level. On July
11, 1995, the Company entered into a new interest rate swap
agreement, which effectively reconverted the interest
payable on the Notes to a fixed rate basis of approximately
7.2% through maturity.

Avon has three interest rate swap agreements on the
Notes at December 31, 1997 and 1996, each such agree-
ment having a notional amount of $100.0, yielding an aggre-
gate notional amount at December 31, 1997 and 1996 of
$300.0. Effective January 1995, the Company had two inter-
est rate caps on the Notes, each with a notional amount of
$100.0, one of which expired in 1996 and the other expires
when the Notes mature. Subsequent to the interest rate on
the Notes becoming fixed, these caps have been marked to
market with an insignificant mark-to-market adjustment.

In December 1995, the Company entered into an interest
rate cap contract with a notional amount of $100.0, which
expired in early 1997, in order to hedge a portion of the
Company’s anticipated short-term variable interest rate
working capital debt. This cap has been marked to market
with an insignificant mark-to-market adjustment.

The Company may periodically hedge foreign currency
royalties, net investments in foreign subsidiaries, firm pur-
chase commitments, and contractual foreign currency cash
flows or obligations, including third-party and intercompany
foreign currency transactions. The Company regularly moni-
tors its foreign currency exposures and ensures that hedge
contract amounts do not exceed the amounts of the underly-
ing exposures.

At December 31, 1997, the Company held foreign cur-
rency forward contracts with notional amounts totaling
$319.1 and option contracts with notional amounts totaling
$80.0 to hedge foreign currency items. These contracts all
have maturities prior to December 31, 1998. During 1996,
the Company also entered into certain option contracts with
notional amounts totaling $46.4, and during 1997 and 1996,
foreign currency forward contracts totaling $44.2 and $99.0,
respectively, which do not qualify as hedging transactions
under the current accounting definitions and, accordingly,
have been marked to market. The mark-to-market adjust-
ment on these option and forward contracts at December 31,
1997 and 1996 was insignificant. The Company’s risk of loss
on these options in the future is limited to premiums paid,
which are insignificant.

The Company attempts to minimize its credit exposure to
counterparties by entering into interest rate swap and cap
contracts only with major international financial institutions
with “A” or higher credit ratings as issued by Standard &
Poor’s Corporation. The Company’s foreign currency and
interest rate derivatives are comprised of over-the-counter
forward contracts or options with major international finan-
cial institutions. Although the Company’s theoretical credit
risk is the replacement cost at the then estimated fair value
of these instruments, management believes that the risk of
incurring losses is remote and that such losses, if any, would
not be material.

Non-performance of the counterparties to the balance of
all the currency and interest rate swap agreements would not
result in a significant write-off at December 31, 1997. In
addition, there are other swap agreements in a net payable
position of an insignificant amount at December 31, 1997.
Each agreement provides for the right of offset between
counterparties to the agreement. In addition, Avon may be
exposed to market risk on its foreign exchange and interest
rate swap and cap agreements as a result of changes in for-
eign exchange and interest rates. The market risk related to
the foreign exchange agreements should be substantially
offset by changes in the valuation of the underlying items
being hedged.

The Company is exposed to changes in financial market
conditions in the normal course of its operations primarily
due to international businesses and transactions denominat-
ed in foreign currencies and the use of various financial
instruments to fund ongoing activities.

Various derivative and non-derivative financial instru-
ments held by the Company are sensitive to changes in
interest rates. These financial instruments are either dis-
cussed above or in Notes 5 and 7 of the Notes to the Consoli-
dated Financial Statements. Interest rate changes would
result in gains or losses in the fair value of debt and other
financing instruments held by the Company. Based on the
outstanding balance of all instruments at December 31,
1997, a hypothetical 50 basis point increase or decrease in
interest rates prevailing at this date, sustained for one year,
would not represent a material potential loss in fair value,
earnings or cash flows. This potential loss was calculated
based on discounted cash flow analyses using interest rates
comparable to the Company’s current cost of debt. In
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1997, the Company did not experience a material loss in fair
value, earnings or cash flows associated with changes in
interest rates. 

The Company also engages in various hedging activities
in order to reduce potential losses due to foreign currency
risks. Consistent with the nature of the economic hedge of
such foreign exchange contracts, any unrealized gain or loss
would be offset by corresponding decreases or increases,
respectively, of the underlying instrument or transaction
being hedged. These financial instruments are discussed
above and in Note 7 of the Notes to the Consolidated Finan-
cial Statements. Based on the Company’s foreign exchange
contracts at December 31, 1997, the impact of a 10% appre-
ciation or 10% depreciation of the U.S. dollar against the
Company’s foreign exchange contracts would not represent a
material potential loss in fair value, earnings or cash flows.
This potential loss does not consider the underlying foreign
currency transaction or translation exposures of the Company.
The hypothetical impact was calculated on the combined
option and forward positions using forward rates at December
31, 1997 adjusted for an assumed 10% appreciation or 10%
depreciation of the U.S. dollar against the foreign contracts.
The impact of payoffs on option contracts is not significant to
this calculation. Additionally, any foreign currency risk asso-
ciated with the foreign denominated debt instrument was
assumed to be offset by a related currency exchange swap
contract. In 1997, foreign exchange losses associated with the
Company’s foreign exchange contracts did not represent a
material loss in fair value, earnings or cash flows.

As of December 31, 1997, the primary currencies for
which the Company has foreign currency exchange rate
exposure are the U.S. dollar versus the Argentine peso,
Brazilian real, British pound, Canadian dollar, German
mark, Japanese yen and the Mexican peso. The Company is
also exposed to other South American and Asian currencies.

The Company does not hedge its foreign currency expo-
sure in a manner that would entirely eliminate the effect of
changes in foreign exchange rates on the Company’s consol-
idated financial position, results of operations and cash
flows. The impact of a 10% appreciation or 10% deprecia-
tion of the U.S. dollar against the Company’s net underlying
foreign currency transaction and translation exposures
could be significant.

Year 2000
Management has developed a worldwide program to prepare
the Company’s computer systems and applications for the
Year 2000. Based on a comprehensive assessment of key
systems, the Company has commenced a project plan to
address all necessary code changes, testing and implemen-
tation required to ensure Year 2000 compliance by Decem-
ber 31, 1999. Management does not expect the incremental
costs of making the required system modifications to have a
material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial
position, results of operations or cash flows.

Other Information 
On October 23, 1997, the Company announced that it has
raised its long-term growth targets for sales and earnings
and that it expects to record special charges in connection
with a major re-engineering program. Commencing in 1998,
the long-term target for sales growth has been raised to 8-
10% compounded annually, and its target for earnings per
share growth has been raised to 16-18% annually. Previ-
ously, the Company targeted long-term sales growth of 6-8%
and long-term earnings per share growth of 13-15%. The
higher targets come largely as a result of initiatives currently
underway and others under review intended to reduce costs
by up to $400.0 a year by 2000, with $200.0 of the savings
being reinvested concurrently in advertising and marketing
programs to boost sales. Avon expects to record special
charges totaling $150.0-$200.0 pretax to cover one-time
costs associated with the re-engineering program. Approxi-
mately half the charges are expected to be recorded in the
first quarter of 1998, with the balance to be recorded in early
1999. Approximately $50.0 of the charges will be cash-
related.



RESULTS OF OPERAT IONS BY QUARTER 

During 1996, the Board of Directors authorized a two-for-one stock split which was distributed in June 1996. All share data
shown below have been restated to reflect the split.

In millions, except per share data First Second Third Fourth Year

1997

Net sales $1,087.6 $1,225.0 $1,249.4 $1,517.4 $5,079.4
Gross profit 646.0 748.9 732.2 901.3 3,028.4
Income before taxes and minority interest 63.0 150.5 107.9 213.5 534.9
Income before minority interest 39.7 94.8 68.0 134.5 337.0
Net income $ 41.3 $ 95.2 $ 68.6 $ 133.7 $ 338.8
Earnings per share: 

Basic $ .31 $ .72 $ .52 $ 1.01 $ 2.56(1)

Diluted $ .31 $ .71 $ .51 $ 1.01 $ 2.54(1)

1996
Net sales $ 1,016.1 $ 1,128.7 $ 1,177.3 $ 1,492.1 $ 4,814.2

Gross profit 614.5 691.6 702.5 884.4 2,893.0

Income before taxes and minority interest 59.8 138.7 98.9 213.0 510.4

Income before minority interest 37.1 86.0 62.8 133.1 319.0

Net income $ 37.7 $ 85.7 $ 62.5 $ 132.0 $ 317.9

Earnings per share:
Basic $ .28 $ .64 $ .47 $ .99 $ 2.38(1)

Diluted $ .28 $ .64 $ .47 $ .99 $ 2.36(1)

(1) The sum of per share amounts for the quarters does not necessarily equal that for the year because the computations are made independently.

MARKET PR ICES OF COMMON STOCK BY QUARTER
1997 1996

Quarter High Low High Low

First $63.63 $52.13 $44.38 $36.31

Second 74.00 50.63 47.56 42.56

Third 78.00 58.50 50.25 39.00

Fourth 76.75 55.50 59.50 48.50

Avon common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange.  At December 31, 1997, there were 23,912 shareholders of
record.  The Company believes that there are over 50,000 additional shareholders who are not “shareholders of record” but
who beneficially own and vote shares through nominee holders such as brokers, benefit plan trustees, etc.  Dividends of
$1.26 per share, or $.315 per share each quarter, were declared and paid in 1997.  Dividends of $1.16 per share, or $.29 per
share each quarter, were declared and paid in 1996. 
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CONSOL IDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME

In millions, except per share data

Years ended December 31 1997 1996 1995

Net sales $5,079.4 $4,814.2 $4,492.1

Costs, expenses and other

Cost of sales 2,051.0 1,921.2 1,769.0

Marketing, distribution and administrative expenses 2,484.3 2,348.2 2,215.6

Interest expense 41.8 40.0 41.3

Interest income (16.7) (14.5) (19.4)

Other (income) expense, net (15.9) 8.9 20.6

Total costs, expenses and other 4,544.5 4,303.8 4,027.1

Income from continuing operations before 
taxes and minority interest 534.9 510.4 465.0

Income taxes 197.9 191.4 176.4
Income from continuing operations before

minority interest 337.0 319.0 288.6

Minority interest 1.8 (1.1) (2.5)

Income from continuing operations 338.8 317.9 286.1

Discontinued operations
Loss on disposals, net of taxes — — (29.6)

Net income $ 338.8 $ 317.9 $ 256.5

Earnings (loss) per share:

Basic:
Continuing operations $ 2.56 $ 2.38 $ 2.10

Discontinued operations — — (.22)

Net income $ 2.56 $ 2.38 $ 1.88

Diluted:
Continuing operations $ 2.54 $ 2.36 $ 2.09

Discontinued operations — — (.22)

Net income $ 2.54 $ 2.36 $ 1.87

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.



CONSOL IDATED BALANCE SHEET

In millions, except share data

December 31 1997 1996

Assets

Current assets

Cash, including cash equivalents of $60.0 and $87.9 $ 141.9 $ 184.5

Accounts receivable (less allowance for doubtful accounts of $35.5 and $36.4) 444.8 437.0

Inventories 564.8 530.0

Prepaid expenses and other 192.5 198.1

Total current assets $1,344.0 $ 1,349.6

Property, plant and equipment, at cost

Land 48.6 51.5

Buildings and improvements 567.0 564.5

Equipment 666.0 608.9

1,281.6 1,224.9

Less accumulated depreciation 670.6 658.3

611.0 566.6

Other assets 317.9 306.2

Total assets $2,272.9 $ 2,222.4

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity

Current liabilities

Debt maturing within one year $ 132.1 $ 97.1

Accounts payable 476.0 469.3

Accrued compensation 111.3 142.4

Other accrued liabilities 268.9 238.7

Sales and other taxes 101.0 124.6

Income taxes 266.6 319.2

Total current liabilities $1,355.9 $ 1,391.3

Long-term debt 102.2 104.5

Employee benefit plans 367.6 384.8

Deferred income taxes 31.2 33.9

Other liabilities (including minority interest of $37.5 and $41.1) 131.0 66.2

Commitments and contingencies

Shareholders’ equity

Common stock, par value $.25 – authorized: 400,000,000 shares; 
issued 174,711,173 and 173,957,379 shares 43.7 43.5

Additional paid-in capital 733.1 693.6

Retained earnings 660.9 488.8

Translation adjustments (270.3) (210.7)

Treasury stock, at cost – 42,897,463 and 41,137,297 shares (882.4) (773.5)

Total shareholders’ equity 285.0 241.7

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $2,272.9 $ 2,222.4

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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CONSOL IDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

In millions

Years ended December 31 1997 1996 1995

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income $338.8 $317.9 $256.5

Adjustments to reconcile income to net cash
provided by continuing operations:

Depreciation and amortization 72.1 64.5 58.3

Provision for doubtful accounts 80.8 79.0 78.0

Translation gains (.1) (.2) (.4)

Deferred income taxes 18.0 (.7) (.6)

Discontinued operations, net — — 29.6

Other 9.4 9.9 13.3

Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (121.4) (125.5) (132.5)

Inventories (67.5) (65.4) (54.6)

Prepaid expenses and other 6.7 13.7 (41.8)

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 42.9 97.8 59.6

Income and other taxes (56.1) 57.7 57.5

Noncurrent assets and liabilities (8.1) (23.6) 5.7

Net cash provided by continuing operations 315.5 425.1 328.6

Net cash used by discontinued operations — (38.2) (49.6)

Net cash provided by operating activities 315.5 386.9 279.0

Cash flows from investing activities

Capital expenditures (169.4) (103.6) (72.7)

Disposal of assets 3.3 3.3 2.8

Acquisitions of subsidiary stock (9.0) (6.3) (3.4)

Net cash used by investing activities (175.1) (106.6) (73.3)

Cash flows from financing activities

Cash dividends (168.3) (158.1) (147.8)

Debt, net (maturities of three months or less) (39.8) 17.8 8.8

Proceeds from short-term debt 25.7 37.5 32.7

Retirement of short-term debt (49.0) (14.1) (30.6)

Proceeds from long-term debt 100.0 — —

Retirement of long-term debt (.8) (1.5) (29.6)

Proceeds from exercise of stock options, net of taxes 20.6 10.0 1.4

Repurchase of common stock (110.8) (127.8) (106.9)

Other financing activities 58.6 — —

Net cash used by financing activities (163.8) (236.2) (272.0)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and equivalents (19.2) (11.0) 2.9

Net (decrease) increase in cash and equivalents (42.6) 33.1 (63.4)

Cash and equivalents at beginning of year 184.5 151.4 214.8

Cash and equivalents at end of year $141.9 $184.5 $151.4

Cash paid for

Interest $ 36.0 $ 35.2 $ 36.4

Income taxes, net of refunds received 215.8 158.9 133.5

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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CONSOL IDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES 
IN SHAREHOLDERS’  EQUITY

Additional
Common Stock Paid-In Retained Translation Treasury

In millions, except share data Shares Amount Capital Earnings Adjustments Stock Total

Balance at December 31, 1994 173,327,748 $ 43.3 $ 660.5 $ 212.4 $ (187.1) $ (543.5) $ 185.6

Net income 256.5 256.5

Dividends – $1.05 per share (143.1) (143.1)

Translation adjustments (15.0) (15.0)

Exercise of stock options,
including tax benefits 79,254 .1 1.5 1.6

Grant, cancellation and
amortization of restricted stock 91,110 8.2 8.2

Repurchase of common stock (106.9) (106.9)

Benefit plan contributions 2.7 3.1 5.8

Balance at December 31, 1995 173,498,112 43.4 672.9 325.8 (202.1) (647.3) 192.7

Net income 317.9 317.9

Dividends – $1.16 per share (154.9) (154.9)

Translation adjustments (8.6) (8.6)

Exercise of stock options,
including tax benefits 423,267 .1 15.6 15.7

Grant, cancellation and
amortization of restricted stock 36,000 2.7 2.7

Repurchase of common stock (127.8) (127.8)

Benefit plan contributions 2.4 1.6 4.0

Balance at December 31, 1996 173,957,379 43.5 693.6 488.8 (210.7) (773.5) 241.7

Net income 338.8 338.8
Dividends - $1.26 per share (166.7) (166.7)
Translation adjustments (59.6) (59.6)
Exercise of stock options,

including tax benefits 713,298 .2 30.3 30.5
Grant, cancellation and

amortization of restricted stock 40,496 4.6 4.6
Repurchase of common stock (110.8) (110.8)
Benefit plan contributions 4.6 1.9 6.5

Balance at December 31,1997 174,711,173 $43.7 $733.1 $660.9 $(270.3) $(882.4) $285.0

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Description of the Business and Summary 
of Significant Accounting Policies

Business
Avon Products, Inc. (“Avon” or the “Company”) is a global
manufacturer and marketer of beauty and related products.
The product categories include cosmetics, fragrance and
toiletries; gift and decorative; apparel; and fashion jewelry
and accessories. Avon’s business is comprised of one indus-
try segment, direct selling, which is conducted in the U.S.,
the Americas, the Pacific and Europe. Sales are made to the
ultimate customers principally by Avon Representatives.

Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation – The consolidated financial
statements include the accounts of Avon and its subsidiaries.
Intercompany balances and transactions are eliminated.
These statements have been prepared in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles and require man-
agement to make estimates and assumptions that affect
amounts reported and disclosed in the financial statements
and related notes. Actual results could differ from these
estimates.

Foreign Currency – The Company has operations in vari-
ous countries around the world. Fluctuations in the value of
foreign currencies cause U.S. dollar-translated amounts to
change in comparison with previous periods. Accordingly,
the Company cannot project in any meaningful way the pos-
sible effect of such fluctuations upon translated amounts or
future earnings. This is due to the large number of curren-
cies involved, the constantly changing exposure in these
currencies, the complexity of intercompany relationships,
the hedging activity entered into in an attempt to minimize
certain of the effects of exchange rate changes where eco-
nomically feasible and the fact that all foreign currencies do
not react in the same manner against the U.S. dollar.

Financial statements of foreign subsidiaries operating in
other than highly inflationary economies are translated at
year-end exchange rates for assets and liabilities and aver-
age exchange rates prevailing during the year for income
and expense accounts. Translation adjustments of these
subsidiaries are recorded as a separate component of share-
holders’ equity.

For financial statements of subsidiaries operating in
highly inflationary economies, nonmonetary assets (princi-
pally inventories and fixed assets) and the related expenses
(principally cost of sales and depreciation) are translated at
the respective historical exchange rates in effect when the
assets were acquired or when the subsidiary was designated

1 as operating in a highly inflationary economy. Monetary
assets and liabilities are translated at year-end exchange
rates. All other income and expense accounts are translated
at average exchange rates prevailing during the year.
Adjustments resulting from the translation of the financial
statements of these subsidiaries are included in income.

Revenue Recognition – Avon recognizes revenue as ship-
ments are made and title passes to independent Representa-
tives, who are Avon’s customers.

Cash and Equivalents – Cash equivalents are stated at cost
plus accrued interest, which approximates fair value. Cash
equivalents are highly liquid debt instruments with an origi-
nal maturity of three months or less and consist of time
deposits with a number of U.S. and non-U.S. commercial
banks with high credit ratings. In accordance with Avon’s
policy, the maximum amount invested in any one bank is
limited. Avon believes it is not exposed to any significant
credit risk regarding cash and equivalents.

Inventories – Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or
market. Cost is determined using the last-in, first-out
(“LIFO”) method for substantially all U.S. inventories,
except apparel, and the first-in, first-out method for all other
inventories.

Depreciation – Substantially all buildings, improvements
and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line
method over estimated useful lives. Estimated useful lives
for buildings and improvements range from 20 to 45 years
and equipment ranges from 3 to 15 years.

Other Assets – Internal system development costs related 
to the development of major information and accounting sys-
tems are expensed as incurred.

Stock Options – Compensation cost is recognized for fixed
price options using the intrinsic value method. Under this
method, compensation cost is the excess, if any, of the quot-
ed market price of the stock at the grant date or other mea-
surement date over the amount an employee must pay to
acquire the stock.

Financial Instruments – Derivative financial instruments
are used by the Company in the management of its interest
rate and foreign currency exposures and are accounted for
on an accrual basis. Gains and losses resulting from effec-
tive hedges of existing assets, liabilities or firm commitments
are deferred as other assets or liabilities and recognized
when the offsetting gains and losses are recognized on the
related hedged items. Income and expense are recorded in

NOTES TO CONSOL IDATED F INANCIAL  STATEMENTS
In millions, except share data
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the same category as that arising from the related asset or lia-
bility being hedged. Items not qualifying for hedge account-
ing are marked to market with the resulting gain or loss
recognized in other (income) expense, net. Gains realized on
termination of interest rate swap contracts are deferred and
amortized over the remaining terms of the original swap
agreements. Costs of interest rate cap contracts are amortized
over the effective lives of the contracts if considered to be
economic hedges; otherwise, they are marked to market.

Research and Development – Research and development
costs are expensed as incurred and aggregated in 1997
$29.9 (1996 – $30.2; 1995 – $27.8).

Advertising – Advertising costs are expensed as incurred
and aggregated in 1997 $64.5 (1996 – $69.6; 1995 – $52.8).

Income Taxes – Deferred income taxes have been provided
on items recognized for financial reporting purposes in 
different periods than for income tax purposes at future
enacted rates.

U.S. income taxes have not been provided on approxi-
mately $191.4 of undistributed income of subsidiaries that
has been or is intended to be permanently reinvested out-
side the United States or is expected to be remitted free of
U.S. income taxes. If such undistributed income was remit-
ted, foreign withholding taxes of approximately $25.7 would
be payable.

Earnings per Share – Basic earnings per share are comput-
ed by dividing net income by the weighted average number
of shares outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings per
share are calculated to give effect to all potentially dilutive
common shares that were outstanding during the year.

For each of the three years ended December 31, 1997,
the number of shares used in the computation of basic and
diluted earnings per share are as follows:

1997 1996 1995

Basic EPS
Weighted-average shares 132.34 133.70 136.48

Incremental shares from 
conversion of:
Stock options 1.16 .93 .38

Diluted EPS
Adjusted weighted-

average shares 133.50 134.63 136.86

All share and per share data included in this report have
been restated to reflect a two-for-one stock split distributed
in June 1996.

Reclassifications – To conform to the 1997 presentation,
certain reclassifications were made to the prior years’ con-
solidated financial statements.

Accounting Changes

Effective December 31, 1997, the Company adopted State-
ment of Financial Accounting Standards (“FAS”) No. 128,
“Earnings per Share”. FAS No. 128 establishes standards
for computing and presenting earnings per share (“EPS”)
and replaces the presentation of previously disclosed EPS
with both basic and diluted EPS. Based upon the Company’s
capitalization structure, the EPS amounts calculated in ac-
cordance with FAS No. 128 approximated the Company’s EPS
amounts in accordance with Accounting Principles Board
Opinion (“APB”) No. 15, “Earnings per Share”. All prior
period EPS data have been restated in accordance with FAS
No. 128.

Effective January 1, 1996, the Company adopted FAS
No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived
Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed of”. This
statement requires that long-lived assets and certain identi-
fiable intangibles to be held and used by an entity be reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of assets may not be recov-
erable. There was no impact on the Company’s results of
operations or financial position in adopting this statement.

Also, effective January 1, 1996, the Company adopted 
the fair value disclosure requirements of FAS No. 123, 
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”. As permitted
by the statement, the Company did not change the method 
of accounting for its employee stock compensation plans. 
See Note 8 for the fair value disclosures required under FAS
No. 123.

Recent Pronouncements – In June 1997, the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued FAS No. 
130, “Reporting Comprehensive Income”. FAS No. 130
establishes standards for the reporting and display of com-
prehensive income and its components in a full set of gener-
al-purpose financial statements. Comprehensive income is
defined as the change in equity during a period from trans-
actions and other events and circumstances from non-owner
sources. FAS No. 130 is effective for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 1997. The adoption of FAS No. 130 will
have no impact on the Company’s results of operations or
financial position.

2
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Also, in June 1997, the FASB issued FAS No. 131, 
“Disclosure about Segments of an Enterprise and Related
Information”. FAS No. 131 establishes standards for the way
that publicly-held companies report information about oper-
ating segments in annual financial statements and requires
that those enterprises report selected information about
operating segments in interim financial reports issued to
shareholders. It also establishes standards for related dis-
closures about products and services, geographic areas and
major customers. FAS No. 131 is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 1997. The adoption of FAS
No. 131 will have no impact on the Company’s results of
operations or financial position.

Discontinued Operations

In December 1995, the Company entered into an agreement
with Mallinckrodt Group, Inc. (“Mallinckrodt”), which fully
settled the litigation initiated by Mallinckrodt. The settle-
ment covers all indemnity obligations related to Avon’s sale
of Mallinckrodt, including environmental clean-up claims
and litigation concerning Mallinckrodt’s settlement of a
DuPont patent claim.

The settlement payments made by Avon to Mallinckrodt,
and related costs, resulted in an after-tax charge to discon-
tinued operations in the fourth quarter of 1995, net of exist-
ing reserves, of $29.6 and a charge to both basic and diluted
earnings per share of $.22. Since the Company had capital
loss carryforwards, no tax benefits were recognized on the
loss in 1995.

Inventories

Inventories at December 31 consisted of the following:

1997 1996

Raw materials     $147.4 $136.7

Finished goods 417.4 393.3

Total $564.8 $530.0

LIFO-based inventories at December 31, 1997 were
$143.5; (1996 – $120.3) with the current estimated replace-
ment cost exceeding the carrying value by approximately
$15.2 (1996 – $20.0).

4
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Debt and Other Financing

Debt at December 31 consisted of the following (See also
Note 7 regarding financial instruments.):

1997 1996

Maturing within one year:
Notes payable                    $ 29.4 $ 94.0

Current portion of long-term debt 102.7 3.1

Total                         $132.1 $ 97.1

Long-term debt:
6.55% notes, due 2007              $100.0 $  —

170 million 61⁄8% deutsche  
mark notes, due 1998 (1) 100.0 100.0

Other, payable to 2002 with 
interest from 9% to 30%  4.9 7.6

Less current portion (102.7) (3.1)

Total                      $102.2 $104.5

(1) The deutsche mark notes (“Notes”) have been effectively converted
into U.S. dollar debt through the use of a currency exchange swap 
contract which includes both the principal and the interest. Reflected
in the carrying value of the debt was a currency swap contract
(payable)/receivable at December 31, 1997 of ($5.1) (1996 – $9.7).

Annual maturities of long-term debt for each of the next
five years are: 1998 – $102.7; 1999 – $1.4; 2000 – $.5;
2001 – $.2, and 2002 and beyond $100.1.

During 1997, the Company issued $100.0 of 6.55%
notes, due August 1, 2007 for which the net proceeds were
used to pay down commercial paper borrowings.

During 1996, the Company entered into an agreement,
which expires in 2001, with various banks to amend and
restate the five-year, $600.0 revolving credit and competi-
tive advance facility agreement, which was previously
entered into in 1994. Within this facility, the Company is
able to borrow, on an uncommitted basis, various foreign
currencies. The new agreement and the prior agreement are
referred to, collectively, as the credit facility.

The credit facility is primarily to be used to finance work-
ing capital, provide support for the issuance of commercial
paper and support the stock repurchase program. At the
Company’s option, the interest rate on borrowings under the
credit facility is based on LIBOR, prime, or federal fund
rates. The credit facility has an annual facility fee of $.4.
The credit facility contains a covenant for interest coverage,
as defined. The Company is in compliance with this covenant.

5
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At December 31, 1997, there were no borrowings out-
standing under the credit facility. At December 31, 1996,
borrowings of $29.7 were outstanding under the credit facil-
ity. The borrowings of $29.7 represented a 3.45 billion yen
loan, which was paid in November 1997, used to hedge the
Company’s net investment in Japan. The annual interest rate
was .78%.

At December 31, 1996, Avon had $34.1 outstanding
under a $500.0 commercial paper program supported by the
credit facility. In addition, the Company has bankers’ accep-
tance facilities and uncommitted lines of credit available of
$205.0 (1996 – $230.0) with various banks which have no
compensating balances or fees. As of December 31, 1997
and 1996, there were no borrowings under the bankers’
acceptance facilities and uncommitted lines.

The maximum borrowings under these combined facili-
ties during 1997 and 1996 were $409.3 and $361.9, respec-
tively, and the annual average borrowings during each year
were approximately $274.6 and $271.3, respectively, at
average annual interest rates of approximately 5.2% and
5.5%, respectively.

At December 31, 1997 and 1996, international lines of
credit totaled $295.8 and $357.0, respectively, of which
$29.4 and $30.2 were outstanding, respectively. The maxi-
mum borrowings under these facilities during 1997 and
1996 were $38.8 and $58.3, respectively, and the annual
average borrowings during each year were $33.8 and $47.2,
respectively, at average annual interest rates of approxi-
mately 9.9% and 6.3%, respectively. Such lines have no
compensating balances or fees.

At December 31, 1997 and 1996, Avon also has letters 
of credit outstanding totaling $15.5 and $18.7, respectively,
which guarantee various insurance activities. In addition,
Avon has outstanding letters of credit for various trade 
activities.

During 1997, the Company entered into a securities
lending transaction resulting in the borrowing of securities
which were subsequently sold for net proceeds approximat-
ing $58.6 used to repay commercial paper borrowings. The
borrowed securities are due to the lender no later than
December 29, 2000, but at the Company’s option can be
returned at any time. The obligation is included in other
non-current liabilities on the balance sheet. The effective
rate on the transaction is expected to be 6.5%.

Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets (liabilities) resulting from temporary dif-
ferences in the recognition of income and expense for tax
and financial reporting purposes at December 31 consisted
of the following: 

1997 1996

Deferred tax assets:
Postretirement benefits $ 69.3 $ 83.5

Accrued expenses and reserves      44.0 53.2

Employee benefit plans 40.0 46.8

Foreign operating loss 
carryforwards 32.5 30.1

Capital loss carryforwards             21.2 36.3

Postemployment benefits              10.6 10.9

All other                     17.7 25.8

Valuation allowance   (55.7) (70.0)

Total deferred tax assets 179.6 216.6

Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation (35.6) (44.0)

Prepaid retirement plan costs (52.4) (54.6)

Capitalized interest (13.5) (15.0)

Unremitted foreign earnings (12.0) (11.6)

All other (9.0) (14.8)

Total deferred tax liabilities (122.5) (140.0)

Net deferred tax assets $ 57.1 $ 76.6

Deferred tax assets (liabilities) at December 31 were
classified as follows:

1997 1996

Deferred tax assets:
Prepaid expenses and other $ 76.5 $ 67.4

Other assets 16.1 46.6

Total deferred tax assets 92.6 114.0

Deferred tax liabilities:
Income taxes (4.3) (3.5)

Deferred income taxes (31.2) (33.9)

Total deferred tax liabilities (35.5) (37.4)

Net deferred tax assets $ 57.1 $ 76.6

The valuation allowance primarily represents reserves for
foreign operating loss and capital loss carryforwards. The basis
used for recognition of deferred tax assets included the prof-
itability of the operations and related deferred tax liabilities.

6
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Income from continuing operations before taxes and
minority interest for the years ended December 31 was as
follows:

1997 1996 1995

United States $153.6 $171.3 $149.7

Foreign 381.3 339.1 315.3

Total $534.9 $510.4 $465.0

The provision for income taxes for the years ended
December 31 was as follows:

1997 1996 1995

Federal:
Current $ 5.4 $ 30.9 $ 23.3

Deferred 21.3 1.0 .9

26.7 31.9 24.2

Foreign:
Current 169.7 152.4 146.2

Deferred (7.7) (1.5) (1.4)

162.0 150.9 144.8

State and other:
Current 4.8 8.8 7.5

Deferred 4.4 (.2) (.1)

9.2 8.6 7.4

Total $197.9 $191.4 $176.4

The effective tax rate for the years ended December 31
was as follows:

1997 1996 1995

Statutory federal rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%

State and local taxes, net 
of federal tax benefit 1.1 1.1 1.0

Tax-exempt operations (.5) (.7) (.7)

Taxes on foreign income, 
including translation 5.3 6.8 7.5

Utilization of net operating 
loss carryforwards .0 (.5) (.1)

Other                         (3.9) (4.2) (4.8)

Effective tax rate 37.0% 37.5% 37.9%

During 1997, the Company reached final agreement with
the Internal Revenue Service with respect to its examination
of the Company’s income tax returns for the years 1982
through 1989. As anticipated, payments, including related
interest, made under this settlement were approximately
$42.4. Reserves previously had been provided by the Com-
pany related to the agreement.

In the fourth quarter of 1997, the Company recorded a
benefit related to a value-added tax settlement in the United
Kingdom totaling $26.5, of which $20.6 and $5.9 have been
reflected in other (income) expense, net and interest income,
respectively.

At December 31, 1997, Avon had foreign operating loss
carryforwards of approximately $84.0. The loss carryfor-
wards expiring between 1998 and 2005 were $53.5 and the
loss carryforwards which do not expire were $30.5. Capital
loss carryforwards, which expire between 1999 and 2001
and may be used to offset capital gains, if any, were approxi-
mately $60.6 at December 31, 1997.

Financial Instruments and 
Risk Management

Risk Management – The Company operates globally, with
manufacturing and distribution facilities in various loca-
tions around the world. The Company may reduce its expo-
sure to fluctuations in interest rates and foreign exchange
rates by creating offsetting positions through the use of
derivative financial instruments. The Company currently
does not use derivative financial instruments for trading or
speculative purposes, nor is the Company a party to lever-
aged derivatives.

The notional amount of forward exchange contracts and
options is the amount of foreign currency bought or sold at
maturity. The notional amount of interest rate swaps is the
underlying principal amount used in determining the inter-
est payments exchanged over the life of the swap. The
notional amounts are not a direct measure of the Company’s
exposure through its use of derivatives.

Interest Rates – The Company periodically uses interest
rate swaps to hedge portions of interest payable on its debt.
In addition, the Company may periodically employ interest
rate caps to reduce exposure, if any, to increases in variable
interest rates.

7
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During a substantial portion of the three-year period
ended December 31, 1997, the Company utilized interest
rate swaps to effectively convert variable interest on its 
long-term debt to a fixed interest rate. From January 1995
through July 10, 1995, due to the expiration of an interest
rate swap, the interest payable on the Notes became variable
at a rate of one-month LIBOR plus 1.4%. During this period,
the Company had an interest rate cap in place to reduce its
exposure to increases in that variable interest rate above a
specified level. On July 11, 1995, the Company entered into
a new interest rate swap agreement, which effectively recon-
verted the interest payable on the Notes to a fixed rate basis
of approximately 7.2% through maturity.

Avon has three interest rate swap agreements on the
Notes at December 31, 1997 and 1996, each such agree-
ment having a notional amount of $100.0, yielding an aggre-
gate notional amount at December 31, 1997 and 1996 of
$300.0. Effective January 1995, the Company had two inter-
est rate caps on the Notes, each with a notional amount of
$100.0, one of which expired in 1996 and the other expires
when the Notes mature. Subsequent to the interest rate on
the Notes becoming fixed, these caps were marked to market
with an insignificant mark-to-market adjustment.

In December 1995, the Company entered into an interest
rate cap contract with a notional amount of $100.0, which
expired in early 1997, in order to hedge a portion of the
Company’s anticipated short-term variable interest rate
working capital debt. This cap has been marked to market
with an insignificant mark-to-market adjustment.

Foreign Currencies – The Company may periodically
hedge foreign currency royalties, net investments in foreign
subsidiaries, firm purchase commitments and contractual
foreign currency cash flows or obligations, including third-
party and intercompany foreign currency transactions. The
Company regularly monitors its foreign currency exposures
and ensures that hedge contract amounts do not exceed the
amounts of the underlying exposures.

At December 31, 1997, the Company held foreign cur-
rency forward contracts with notional amounts totaling
$319.1 (1996 – $203.1) and option contracts with notional
amounts totaling $80.0 (1996 – $61.2) to hedge foreign cur-
rency items. These contracts all have maturities prior to
December 31, 1998. During 1996, the Company also

entered into certain option contracts with notional amounts
totaling $46.4 and, during 1997 and 1996, foreign currency
forward contracts totaling $44.2 and $99.0, respectively,
which do not qualify as hedging transactions under the cur-
rent accounting definitions and, accordingly, have been
marked to market. The mark-to-market adjustments on
these option and forward contracts at December 31, 1997
and 1996 were insignificant. The Company’s risk of loss on
the options in the future is limited to premiums paid, which
are insignificant.

These forward and option contracts to purchase and sell
foreign currencies, including cross-currency contracts to
sell one foreign currency for another currency at December
31 are summarized below:

1997 1996

Buy Sell Buy Sell

Argentine peso $ — $ — $ — $ 15.0

Brazilian real — — — 84.0

British pound 29.1 56.5 1.5 33.9

Canadian dollar — 30.8 — 44.1

Chinese renminbi — — — 10.0

French franc — 13.8 1.0 14.4

German mark 77.2 12.4 59.5 16.2

Indonesian rupiah 3.7 5.0 — —

Irish punt 13.0 2.9 13.6 1.6

Italian lira 7.8 3.7 12.7 1.8

Japanese yen 12.0 53.3 57.2 28.1

Malaysian ringgit — 6.0 — —

Mexican peso — 40.0 — —

Philippine peso — 15.0 — —

Russian ruble — 20.0 — —

Spanish peseta — 7.0 — 10.1

Taiwanese dollar — 20.2 — —

Thai baht — 5.1 — —

Other currencies 4.1 4.7 .9 4.1

Total $146.9 $296.4 $146.4 $263.3
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Credit and Market Risk – The Company attempts to mini-
mize its credit exposure to counterparties by entering into
interest rate swap and cap contracts only with major interna-
tional financial institutions with “A” or higher credit ratings
as issued by Standard & Poor’s Corporation. The Company’s
foreign currency and interest rate derivatives are comprised
of over-the-counter forward contracts or options with major
international financial institutions. Although the Company’s
theoretical credit risk is the replacement cost at the then
estimated fair value of these instruments, management
believes that the risk of incurring losses is remote and that
such losses, if any, would not be material.

Non-performance of the counterparties to the balance of
all the currency and interest rate swap agreements would not
result in a significant write-off at December 31, 1997. In
addition, there are other swap agreements in a net payable
position of an insignificant amount at December 31, 1997.
Each agreement provides for the right of offset between
counterparties to the agreement. In addition, Avon may be
exposed to market risk on its foreign exchange and interest
rate swap and cap agreements as a result of changes in for-
eign exchange and interest rates. The market risk related to
the foreign exchange agreements should be substantially
offset by changes in the valuation of the underlying items
being hedged.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments – For purposes of the
following disclosure, the fair value of a financial instrument
is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged
in a current transaction between willing parties, other than
in a forced sale or liquidation. The aggregate fair value
amounts presented are not intended to, and do not, repre-
sent the underlying fair value of Avon.

The methods and assumptions used to estimate fair value
are as follows:

Grantor trust – The fair value of these investments, princi-
pally money market funds and equity securities, is based on
the quoted market prices for issues listed on exchanges. 

Debt maturing within one year and long-term debt and
other financing – The fair value of all debt and other
financing is estimated based on the quoted market prices for
issues listed on exchanges.

Forward exchange and currency option contracts – The
fair value of forward exchange and currency option contracts
is estimated based on quoted market prices from banks.

Interest rate swap, currency swap and interest rate cap
agreements – The fair value of interest rate swap, currency
swap and interest rate cap agreements is estimated based on
quotes from the market makers of these instruments and
represents the estimated amounts that Avon would expect to
receive or pay to terminate the agreements.

The asset and (liability) amounts recorded in the balance
sheet (carrying amount) and the estimated fair values 
of financial instruments at December 31 consisted of the 
following:

1997  1996

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount Value Amount Value

Cash and 
equivalents $141.9 $141.9 $184.5 $184.5

Grantor trust 61.1 62.7 49.4 57.2

Debt maturing  
within one year (127.0) (127.6) (97.1) (97.1)

Long-term debt and
other financing (160.3) (162.7) (114.2) (117.2)

Currency swap 
contract on 
long-term debt (5.1) (1.7) 9.7 16.2

Other forward 
exchange and 
option contracts 5.0 10.3 .3 1.0

Interest rate 
swap receivable — .1 — .1

Interest rate 
swaps payable (.7) (2.2) (.7) (6.4)
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Exercise prices for options outstanding as of December
31, 1997 consisted of 10,000 options at a price range of 
$12 to $13; 2,142,000 options at a price range of $26 to $46
and 1,383,000 options at a price range of $61 to $63, with
weighted-average remaining contractual lives of approxi-
mately one year, eight years and nine years, respectively.

The 1993 Stock Incentive Plan (“1993 Plan”) provides
for several types of equity-based incentive compensation
awards. Under the 1993 Plan, the maximum number of
shares that may be awarded is 7,050,000 shares, of which 
no more than 4,000,000 shares may be used for restricted
share and stock bonus grants. Awards, when made, may also
be in the form of stock options, stock appreciation rights,
dividend equivalent rights or performance unit awards.
Stock options granted to officers and key employees shall 
be at a price no less than fair market value on the date the
option is granted. During 1997, 1996 and 1995, restricted
shares with aggregate value and vesting and related amorti-
zation periods were granted as follows: 1997 – 18,000
shares valued at $1.2 vesting over one to three years; 
1996 – 39,000 shares valued at $1.7 vesting over two to four
years; and 1995 – 96,000 shares valued at $2.8 vesting over
two to four years.

Effective January 1, 1997, the 1997 Long-Term 
Incentive Plan (“1997 LTIP”) was authorized under the
1993 Plan. The 1997 LTIP provides for the grant of two
forms of incentive awards, performance units for potential
cash incentives and ten-year stock options. Performance
units are earned over the three-year performance period

(1997 – 1999), based on the degree of attainment of perfor-
mance objectives. Options are awarded annually over the
three-year performance period and vest in thirds over the
three-year period following each option grant date. As dis-
cussed above, these options are granted at the fair market
value on the date the option is granted.

Effective January 1, 1994, the 1994 Long-Term Incentive
Plan (“1994 LTIP”) was authorized under the 1993 Plan
authorizing the grant of two forms of incentive awards, per-
formance units for potential cash incentives and ten-year
stock options. As of December 31, 1996, required perfor-
mance goals under the 1994 LTIP were achieved and,
accordingly, the cash incentives totaling $31.0 were paid 
in early 1997.

As of December 31, 1993, required performance goals
under the prior long-term incentive plan were achieved and,
accordingly, 50% of previously issued restricted shares were
vested and issued in early 1994. An additional 30% of such
shares vested and were issued in early 1995 while the
remaining 20% vested and were issued in early 1996. Dur-
ing 1993, 96,180 restricted shares were issued under that
plan, with an aggregate value on the date of grant of $3.5.
Expense was recorded as the restricted shares vested over
the periods established for each grant.

Compensation expense under all plans in 1997 was
$15.6 (1996 – $14.7; 1995 – $13.7). The unamortized cost
as of December 31, 1997 was $2.0 (1996 – $4.0). The
accrued cost of the performance units in 1997 was $12.7
(1996 – $12.0; 1995 – $9.4).

Stock Option Plans

A summary of the Company’s stock option activity, weighted-average exercise price and related information for the years
ended December 31 is as follows:

1995         1996        1997

Weighted Weighted Weighted
Shares Average Shares Average   Shares Average

(in 000’s) Price (in 000’s) Price (in 000’s) Price

Outstanding – beginning of year      1,064  $24.22    2,409  $28.45  2,875   $32.56
Granted       1,430 30.96 894 39.62 1,430 61.35
Exercised (79) 17.46 (423) 24.16 (713) 28.93
Forfeited (6) 23.20 (5) 24.93 (57) 55.00

Outstanding  – end of year 2,409 $28.45 2,875 $32.56 3,535 $44.58

Options exercisable – end of year 449 $24.21 575 $26.03 680 $30.53

8
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The Company has adopted the disclosure provisions of
FAS No. 123, but, as permitted by the statement, has contin-
ued to apply APB No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees” and related interpretations in accounting for its
employee stock option plans. Under APB No. 25, because
the exercise price of the Company’s employee stock options
equals the market price of the underlying stock on the date
of grant, no compensation expense is recognized.

If the Company had elected to recognize compensation
cost for the plans based on the fair value at the grant dates,
consistent with the method prescribed by FAS No. 123, net
income and earnings per share would have been changed to
the pro forma amounts indicated below (in millions, except
for earnings per share information):

1997 1996 1995    

Pro forma net income $332.5 $314.9    $255.3

Pro forma earnings 
per share:    
Basic               $ 2.51 $ 2.36    $ 1.87

Diluted             $ 2.49 $ 2.34 $ 1.87

Pro forma information regarding net income and earnings
per share is required by FAS No. 123, and has been deter-
mined as if the Company had accounted for its employee
stock options under the fair value method of FAS No. 123.
The fair value for these options was estimated at the date of
grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing model which was
developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded
options which have no vesting restrictions and are fully
transferable. In addition, option pricing models require the
input of highly subjective assumptions, including the
expected stock price volatility. The weighted-average
assumptions used for 1997 were the risk-free interest rate of
approximately 6.3%; dividend yield of 2%; expected volatil-
ity of the market price of the Company’s common stock of
25%; and a weighted-average expected life of the options of
approximately five years. The weighted-average assump-
tions used for both 1996 and 1995 were the risk-free interest
rate of approximately 5.5%; dividend yield of 3%; expected
volatility of the market price of the Company’s common
stock of 20%; and a weighted-average expected life of the
options of approximately three years.

Shareholders’ Equity

Stock Split – At the 1996 Annual Meeting, the sharehold-
ers approved an amendment to the Company’s Certificate of
Incorporation to increase the number of shares of common
stock authorized from 200 million to 400 million shares and
decrease the par value per share from $.50 to $.25. Subse-
quently, the Company’s Board of Directors (“Board”) autho-
rized a two-for-one stock split which was distributed in June
1996 to shareholders of record after the close of business on
May 15, 1996.

Share Rights Plan – Avon has a 1988 Share Rights Plan
under which one right has been declared as a dividend for
each outstanding share of its common stock. Each right,
which is redeemable at $.005 at any time at Avon’s option,
entitles the shareholder, among other things, to purchase
one share of Avon common stock at a price equal to one-half
of the then current market price, if certain events have
occurred. The right is exercisable if, among other events,
one party obtains a beneficial ownership of 20% or more of
Avon’s voting stock.

Dividends – On February 1, 1997, Avon increased the 
regular dividend on common shares to an annual rate of
$1.26 per share, with the first quarterly dividend at the rate
of $.315 per share having been paid on March 3, 1997.

On February 1, 1996, Avon increased the regular divi-
dend on common shares to an annual rate of $1.16 per
share, with the first quarterly dividend at the rate of $.29 
per share having been paid on March 1, 1996.

On August 2, 1995, Avon increased the regular dividend
on common shares to an annual rate of $1.10 per share, with
the first quarterly dividend at the rate of $.275 per share
having been paid on September 1, 1995.

Stock Repurchase Programs – During 1994, Avon’s
Board authorized a stock repurchase program under which
Avon would buy back up to 10% of its then outstanding
common stock, or approximately 14,000,000 shares. As of
February 1997, when the plan ended, the cumulative num-
ber of shares repurchased was 12.7 million shares at a total
cost of $424.4 which are included in Treasury Stock. Under
a new repurchase program, which began in February 1997,
the Company repurchased approximately 1.8 million shares
at a total cost of approximately $109.3 as of December 31,
1997. Under this new program, the Company may buy back
up to $500.0 of its currently outstanding common stock
through open market purchases over a period of up to three
to five years.

9
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Savings Plan – In 1997, Avon contributed 43,672 
(1996 – 86,186) shares of treasury stock to an employees’
savings plan and recognized expense for its fair value. In
addition, during 1997, the Company contributed an addi-
tional 60,000 shares, for which the expense had been
accrued at December 31, 1996. The expense recognized for
the plan in 1997 was $2.6 (1996 – $7.0; 1995 – $3.7).

Board of Directors Remuneration – Effective May 1,
1997, the Company discontinued the Board retirement plan,
which was applicable only to non-management directors.
Directors retiring after that date have had the actuarial value
of their accrued retirement benefits converted to a one-time
grant of common stock which is restricted as to transfer until
retirement. 26,393 shares were issued to directors as a result
of the discontinuance of the plan. As a replacement for such
plan, effective on and after May 1, 1997, each non-manage-
ment director is annually granted options to purchase 2,000
shares of common stock, at an exercise price based on the
fair market price of the stock on the date of grant. The first
such annual grant was made May 1, 1997 consisting of a total
of 20,000 options with an exercise price of $61.63.

Also effective as of May 1, 1997, the annual retainer paid
to non-management directors was changed to consist of
$.025 cash plus an annual grant of shares having a value of
$.025 based on the average closing market price of the stock
for the ten days preceding the date of grant. These shares are
also restricted as to transfer until the director retires from
the Board. The first such grant was made May 1, 1997 con-
sisting of a total of 4,260 shares.

Employee Benefit Plans

Retirement Plans – Avon and certain subsidiaries have
noncontributory retirement plans for substantially all
employees. Benefits under these plans are generally based
on an employee’s years of service and average compensation
near retirement. Plans are funded on a current basis except
where funding is not required. Net retirement plan expense
for the years ended December 31 was determined as follows:

1997 1996 1995

Service cost $ 35.2 $ 36.6 $ 33.4

Interest cost 63.1 61.4 58.5

Actual return on 
plan assets (117.3) (72.8) (121.1)

Net amortization 67.5 21.2 66.4

Net retirement 
plan expense $ 48.5 $ 46.4 $ 37.2

10

Retirement plan expense is determined using assump-
tions as of the beginning of the year. The weighted-average
assumptions used to determine the data for the years ended
December 31 are as follows:

1997 1996 1995

Discount rate 7.4% 7.3% 8.2%

Rate of compensation 
increase 4.7 4.5 4.8

Rate of return on assets 9.2 9.3 9.3

The funded status of retirement plans at December 31,
using assumptions as of the end of the year, consisted of the
following:

Assets Exceed Accumulated
Accumulated Benefits

Benefits Exceed Assets

1997 1996 1997 1996

Plan assets at fair 
value (primarily
listed stocks and 
bonds)     $753.7  $657.5 $ 31.8 $ 33.2

Present value of 
projected benefit
obligation:

Accumulated 
benefit obligation
Vested (508.4) (496.8) (143.5) (151.1)

Nonvested (82.0) (73.1) (33.3) (24.8)

Projected 
compensation 
increases (90.4) (91.8) (32.3) (37.0)

Projected benefit 
obligation (680.8) (661.7) (209.1) (212.9)

Plan assets in 
excess of (less 
than) projected
benefit obligation     72.9 (4.2) (177.3) (179.7)

Unrecognized 
net loss 67.3 111.5 32.0 25.2

Unrecognized prior 
service cost (12.4) 16.5 5.2 8.1

Unrecognized 
transition 
(gain) loss  (12.6) (21.3) 9.6 9.1

Adjustment for 
additional liability —    — (18.1) (11.2)

Prepaid (accrued) 
retirement 
plan cost             $115.2 $102.5 $(148.6) $ (148.5)
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At December 31, 1997 and 1996, the weighted-average
discount rates used in determining the projected benefit
obligations were 7.0% and 7.6%, respectively.

Prepaid retirement plan cost shown above is included in
Other Assets. The accrued retirement plan cost shown above
is primarily included in Employee Benefit Plans.

Effective July 1998, the defined benefit retirement plan
covering U.S.-based employees will be converted to a cash
balance plan with benefits determined by compensation
credits related to age and service and interest credits based
on individual account balances and prevailing interest
rates. Additional amendments include an increased compa-
ny matching contribution to the savings plan and a ten year
transitional benefit arrangement for certain employees cov-
ered under the existing defined benefit retirement plan.

Supplemental Executive Retirement and Life Insurance
Plans – Avon has a Supplemental Executive Retirement
Plan (“SERP”) which is a defined benefit plan under which
Avon will pay supplemental pension benefits to key execu-
tives in addition to amounts received under Avon’s retire-
ment plan. The annual cost of this plan has been included in
the determination of the net retirement plan expense shown
above and in 1997 amounted to $5.5 (1996 – $5.5; 1995 –
$4.4). Such benefits will be paid from Avon’s assets. The
accumulated benefit obligation under this plan at December
31, 1997 was $22.8 (1996 – $21.8) and is primarily includ-
ed in Employee Benefit Plans.

Avon also maintains a Supplemental Life Insurance Plan
(“SLIP”) under which additional death benefits ranging from
$.35 to $2.0 are provided to certain active and retired offi-
cers. Avon has acquired corporate-owned life insurance
policies to provide partial funding of the benefits. The cash
surrender value of these policies at December 31, 1997 was
$20.6 (1996 – $29.3) and is held in a grantor trust. During
1997, certain retirees elected to receive a cash distribution
from the SLIP approximating $10.0, which was funded by
corporate-owned life insurance policies.

Avon has established a grantor trust to provide funding
for the benefits payable under the SERP and SLIP. The trust
is irrevocable and assets contributed to the trust can only 
be used to pay such benefits with certain exceptions. The
assets held in the trust at December 31, 1997, amounted 
to $81.7 (1996 – $78.7), consisting of a money market fund,
a managed portfolio of equity securities and corporate-
owned life insurance policies. These assets are included in
Other Assets.

Postretirement Benefits – Avon provides health care, in
excess of Medicare coverage, and life insurance benefits for
the majority of employees who retire under Avon’s retire-
ment plans in the United States and certain foreign coun-
tries.  The cost of such health care benefits is shared by
Avon and its retirees.

Net postretirement benefit cost for the years ended
December 31 included the following components:

1997 1996 1995

Service cost $ 3.0 $ 3.3 $ 4.0

Interest cost 13.0 14.0 16.3

Total postretirement 
benefit cost $16.0 $17.3 $20.3

The assumptions used to determine the data for the years
ended December 31 are as follows:

1997 1996 1995

Discount rate                 7.7% 7.2%   8.5%

Rate of assumed 
compensation 
increases       4.5 4.5 4.5

The accumulated postretirement benefits obligation at
December 31, which is unfunded, for the U.S. plan and cer-
tain foreign plans for which the obligation was not signifi-
cant, consisted of the following:

1997 1996

Retirees                         $136.6 $139.2

Other fully eligible participants 3.8 3.7

Other active participants 56.7 53.1

Unrealized gain                       6.2    10.8

Accumulated postretirement 
benefits obligation                      $203.3 $206.8

At December 31, 1997 and 1996, the weighted-average
discount rates used in determining the accumulated benefits
obligation were 7.2% and 7.7%, respectively.

For 1997, the assumed rate of future increases in the per
capita cost of health care benefits (the health care cost trend
rate) was 9.0% for pre-65 claims (8.5% for post-65 claims)
and will gradually decrease each year thereafter to 5.0% in
2005 and beyond. Increasing the health care cost trend rate
by one percentage point would have increased the accumu-
lated postretirement benefits obligation at December 31,
1997 by $23.2 and would have increased the 1997 annual
postretirement benefits expense by $2.4.
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Postemployment Benefits – Avon provides postemploy-
ment benefits which include salary continuation, severance
benefits, disability benefits and continuation of health care
benefits and life insurance coverage to former employees after
employment but before retirement. At December 31, 1997,
the accrued cost for postemployment benefits was $35.0
(1996 – $32.2) and is included in Employee Benefit Plans.

Geographic Information

Sales and pretax income by geographic area are presented
on page 29. Identifiable assets by geographic area at
December 31 were as follows:

1997 1996 1995

United States        $ 528.9 $ 470.2   $ 449.2

International
Americas 583.5 548.8 498.4

Pacific          378.4 383.5 375.5

Europe           363.5   377.4 339.7

Total International 1,325.4 1,309.7 1,213.6

Corporate and other*      418.6 442.5 390.0

Total          $2,272.9 $2,222.4 $2,052.8

* Includes Cash Equivalents in 1997 of $60.0 (1996 – $87.9; 
1995 – $60.5).

Foreign Exchange – Financial statement translation of
subsidiaries operating in highly inflationary economies and
foreign currency transactions resulted in losses in 1997 net-
ting to $2.2 (1996 – $3.1; 1995 – $6.9), which are included
in Other (income) expense, net and Income taxes. In addi-
tion, cost of sales and expenses include the unfavorable
impact of the translation of inventories and prepaid expens-
es at historical rates in countries with highly inflationary
economies in 1997 of $6.0 (1996 – $12.6; 1995 – $4.7).

Leases and Commitments

Minimum rental commitments under noncancellable operat-
ing leases, primarily for equipment and office facilities at
December 31, 1997, consisted of the following:

Year

1998              $ 60.9
1999               45.4
2000             35.0
2001               26.3
2002              19.2
Later years          208.5
Sublease rental income      (8.5)

Total             $386.8

12
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Rent expense related to continuing operations in 1997
was $88.2 (1996 – $89.7; 1995 – $78.0). Various construc-
tion and information systems projects were in progress at
December 31, 1997 with an estimated cost to complete of
approximately $107.0.

Contingencies

Various lawsuits and claims (asserted and unasserted), aris-
ing in the ordinary course of business or related to business-
es previously sold, are pending or threatened against Avon.

In 1991, a class action lawsuit was initiated against Avon
on behalf of certain classes of holders of Avon’s Preferred
Equity-Redemption Cumulative Stock (“PERCS”). This
lawsuit alleges various contract and securities law claims
relating to the PERCS (which were fully redeemed that
year). Avon has rejected the assertions in this case, believes
it has meritorious defenses to the claims and is vigorously
contesting this lawsuit.

In the opinion of Avon’s management, based on its review
of the information available at this time, the difference, if
any, between the total cost of resolving such contingencies
and reserves recorded by Avon at December 31, 1997
should not have a material adverse impact on Avon’s consol-
idated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Subsequent Event

On February 5, 1998, Avon’s Board approved an increase 
in the quarterly cash dividend to $.34 per share from 
$.315. The first dividend at the new rate will be paid on
March 2, 1998 to shareholders of record on February 17,
1998. On an annualized basis, the new dividend rate will 
be $1.36 per share.

14
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The accompanying consolidated financial statements of
Avon Products, Inc. have been prepared by management in
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
and necessarily include amounts that are based on judg-
ments and estimates. The audit report of Coopers & Lybrand
L.L.P., independent accountants, on these financial state-
ments is the result of their audits of these consolidated
financial statements, which were performed in accordance
with generally accepted auditing standards.

Avon maintains an internal control structure and related
systems, policies and procedures designed to provide rea-
sonable assurance that assets are safeguarded, transactions
are executed in accordance with appropriate authorization
and accounting records may be relied upon for the prepara-
tion of financial information. Avon also maintains an inter-
nal audit department that evaluates and formally reports to
management on the adequacy and effectiveness of controls,
policies and procedures.

The audit committee of the board of directors, comprised
solely of outside directors, has an oversight role in the area
of financial reporting and internal controls. This committee
meets several times during the year with management,
Coopers & Lybrand L.L.P. and the internal auditors to moni-
tor the proper discharge of each of their respective responsi-
bilities. Coopers & Lybrand L.L.P. and the internal auditors
have free access to management and to the audit committee
to discuss the results of their activities and the adequacy of
controls.

It is management’s opinion that Avon’s policies and pro-
cedures, reinforced by the internal control structure, pro-
vide reasonable assurance that operations are managed in a
responsible and professional manner with a commitment to
the highest standard of business conduct. 

James E. Preston Robert J. Corti
Chairman of the Board and Senior Vice President,
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

To the Shareholders of Avon Products, Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance
sheet of Avon Products, Inc. and subsidiaries as of Decem-
ber 31, 1997 and 1996, and the related consolidated state-
ments of income, changes in shareholders’ equity, and cash
flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 1997. These financial statements are the
responsibility of Avon’s management. Our responsibility is
to express an opinion on these financial statements based on
our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assur-
ance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Avon Products, Inc. and subsidiaries at
December 31, 1997 and 1996, and the results of its opera-
tions and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year
period ended December 31, 1997, in conformity with gener-
ally accepted accounting principles.

New York, New York
February 5, 1998

REPORT OF MANAGEMENT REPORT OF INDEPENDENT
ACCOUNTANTS
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In millions, except per share and employee data 1997 1996 1995 1994

Income data

Net sales $5,079.4 $ 4,814.2 $ 4,492.1 $ 4,266.5

Interest expense 41.8 40.0 41.3 50.8

Income from continuing operations before taxes,
minority interest and cumulative effect of 
accounting changes 534.9 510.4 465.0 433.8

Income from continuing operations before minority 
interest and cumulative effect of accounting changes 337.0 319.0 288.6 270.3

Income from continuing operations 338.8 317.9 286.1 264.8

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net — — (29.6) (23.8)

Cumulative effect of accounting changes, net — — — (45.2)(1)

Net income (loss) 338.8 317.9 256.5 195.8

Earnings (loss) per share – basic(4) (5)

Continuing operations $ 2.56 $ 2.38 $ 2.10 $ 1.88

Discontinued operations — — (.22) (.17)

Cumulative effect of accounting changes — — — (.32)

Net income (loss) 2.56 2.38 1.88 1.39

Earnings (loss) per share – diluted(4) (5)

Continuing operations $ 2.54 $ 2.36 $ 2.09 $ 1.87

Discontinued operations — — (.22) (.17)

Cumulative effect of accounting changes — — — (.32)

Net income (loss) 2.54 2.36 1.87 1.38

Cash dividends per share

Common $ 1.26 $ 1.16 $ 1.05 $ .95

Preferred — — — —

Balance sheet data

Working capital $ (11.9) $ (41.7) $ (30.3) $ 9.3

Capital expenditures 169.4 103.6 72.7 99.9

Property, plant and equipment, net 611.0 566.6 537.8 528.4

Total assets 2,272.9 2,222.4 2,052.8 1,978.3

Debt maturing within one year 132.1 97.1 47.3 61.2

Long-term debt 102.2 104.5 114.2 116.5

Total debt 234.3 201.6 161.5 177.7

Shareholders’ equity 285.0 241.7 192.7 185.6

Number of employees

United States 8,100 7,800 8,000 7,900

International 26,900 25,900 23,800 22,500

Total employees 35,000 33,700 31,800 30,400

(1) Effective January 1, 1994, Avon adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“FAS”) No. 112, “Employers’ Accounting for Postemploy-
ment Benefits”, for all applicable operations, and FAS No. 106, “Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions”, for its
foreign benefit plans. In addition, effective January 1, 1994, Avon changed its method of accounting for internal systems development costs. These
development costs are being expensed as incurred, rather than deferred and amortized over future periods. Effective January 1, 1993, Avon adopted
FAS No. 106, for its U.S. retiree health care and life insurance benefit plans and FAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes”.  Effective January 1,
1988, Avon adopted FAS No. 96, “Accounting for Income Taxes”.

(2) In 1992, Avon began the restructuring of its worldwide manufacturing and distribution facilities and recorded a provision of $96.0 ($64.4 after tax, or
$.45 per share). Income from continuing operations in 1993 increased 4% from $228.6, or $1.59 per share, excluding the 1992 restructuring charge.

(3) The following nonrecurring transactions were recorded during 1987: a pretax gain of $191.0 ($121.1 after tax, or $.86 per share) resulting from the
sale of subsidiary stock and a special provision for restructuring of $47.5 ($29.4 after tax, or $.21 per share).

(4) A two-for-one stock split was distributed in June 1996.  All per share data in this report, unless indicated, have been restated to reflect the split.
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1993 1992 1991 1990 1989 1988 1987

$ 3,844.1 $ 3,660.5 $ 3,441.0 $ 3,291.6 $ 2,998.3 $ 2,835.2 $ 2,506.2

45.2 43.7 75.4 77.5 118.0 112.9 77.5

394.6 290.0(2) 352.9 305.6 252.9 208.3 359.6(3)

243.8 169.4(2) 209.3 180.3 134.1 121.1 224.8(3)

236.9 164.2(2) 204.8 174.1 126.5 112.3 222.8(3)

2.7 10.8 (69.1) 21.2 (71.9) (536.8) (63.7)

(107.5)(1) — — — — 20.0(1) —

132.1 175.0(2) 135.7 195.3 54.6 (404.5) 159.1(3)

$ 1.64 $ 1.14 $ 1.30(6) $ 1.22 $ .82(7) $ .76(7) $ 1.58

.02 .08 (.48) .18 (.65) (4.31) (.45)

(.74) — — — — .16 —

.92 1.22 .82(6) 1.40 .17(7) (3.39)(7) 1.13

$ 1.64 $ 1.14(2) $ 1.43(6) $ 1.16 $ .81(7) $ .76(7) $ 1.57(3)

.02 .07 (.48) .14 (.64) (4.31) (.45)

(.74) — — — — .16 —

.92 1.21(2) .95(6) 1.30 .17(7) (3.39)(7) 1.12(3)

$ .85 $ .75 $ 2.20(8) $ .50 $ .50 $ .75 $ 1.00

— — .505 1.00 1.00 .50 —

$ 23.1 $ (99.5) $ (135.3) $ 71.6 $ 56.3 $ 51.0 $ 122.2

58.1 62.7 61.2 36.3 33.3 46.0 45.9

476.2 476.7 468.5 467.2 472.5 529.1 561.3

1,918.7 1,692.6 1,693.3 2,010.1 1,994.1 2,362.6 2,419.6

70.4 37.3 143.8 207.1 151.7 205.6 62.8

123.7 177.7 208.1 334.8 673.2 917.9 801.8

194.1 215.0 351.9 541.9 824.9 1,123.5 864.6

314.0 310.5 251.6 393.4 228.3 239.3 758.6

8,000 8,700 9,200 9,500 9,400 9,700 10,500

21,500 20,700 20,900 20,300 19,900 18,400 18,100

29,500 29,400 30,100 29,800 29,300 28,100 28,600

(5) Effective for the year ended December 31, 1997, the Company adopted FAS No. 128, “Earnings per Share”.  FAS No. 128 establishes standards for
computing and presenting earnings per share (“EPS”) and replaces the presentation of previously disclosed EPS with both basic and diluted EPS.
Based upon the Company’s capitalization structure, the EPS amounts calculated in accordance with FAS No. 128 approximated the Company’s EPS
amounts in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 15, “Earnings per Share”.  All prior period EPS data have been restated in
accordance with FAS No. 128.

(6) For 1991, in management’s opinion, per share amounts assuming dilution, even though the result is antidilutive, provide the most meaningful 
comparison of per share data because they show the full effect of the conversion of 36 preferred shares into approximately 25.92 common shares 
on June 3, 1991.

(7) In 1989 and 1988, the calculation of earnings per share assuming dilution is antidilutive and accordingly, earnings per share have not been adjusted
for the conversion of preferred shares into additional common shares.

(8) Includes special dividend of $1.50 paid in 1991.
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